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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Board of Directors of K Cash Corporation Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of K Cash Corporation Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on pages 6 to 92, comprise:

o the consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2020, 2021 and 2022 and May 31,
2023;

o the company balance sheets as at December 31, 2022 and May 31, 2023;

o the consolidated statements of comprehensive income for the years ended December 31,
2020, 2021 and 2022 and the five months ended May 31, 2023 (the “Relevant Periods”);

o the consolidated statements of changes in equity for the Relevant Periods;

e the consolidated statements of cash flows for the Relevant Periods; and

» the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising material accounting
policy information and other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial
position of the Company as at December 31, 2022 and May 31, 2023 and the consolidated
financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2020, 2021 and 2022 and May 31, 2023,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the Relevant
Periods in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”).

PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong SAR, China
T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com



Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Board of Directors of K Cash Corporation Limited (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs”)
issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Independence
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for

Professional Accountants (“the Code™), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code.

Other Matters

The comparative consolidated financial statements as at January 1, 2020 and for the five
months ended May 31, 2022 have not been audited.

Responsibilities of Directors for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do
SO.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Board of Directors of K Cash Corporation Limited (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and
to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date
of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

o
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Board of Directors of K Cash Corporation Limited (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements (Continued)

e FEvaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the directors of the Company regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

i
=
S

Restriction on Distribution and Use

The consolidated financial statements are prepared for the purpose of the preparation of
financial information for inclusion in the prospectus of the Company in connection with the
initial public offering of shares of the Company on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. As a result, the consolidated financial statements may not be suitable for
another purpose. Our report is intended solely for the board of directors of the Company and
should not be distributed to or used by any other parties for any purpose.

e

icewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, November 27, 2023



K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Interest income
Interest expenses

Net interest income

Other income

Other (losses)/gains, net

Selling expenses

General and administrative
expenses

Expected credit losses, net

Operating profit
Other finance cost

Profit before income
tax
Income tax expense

Profit and total
comprehensive
ifrcome for the
year/period N

Earnings per share for
the year/period
Basic and diluted
(HK$’000)

Notes

ple)

11

Year ended December 31, Five months ended May 31,
2020 2021 2022 2022 2023
HK$'co0 HK$ 000 HK$' o000 HKX%'o00 HK$'000
(Unaudited}
304,256 270,103 233,944 99,480 104,672
(36,592) (35,977 (22,963) (9,272) (9,662)
267,664 234,126 210,981 90,208 95,010
5,666 3,936 10,094 3,792 1,143
(257) 157 (174) 99 693
{(39,868) (35,140) (34,375) (9.484) (12,159)
{57,721 (68,363) (66,134) (27,560) (33,459}
(69,718) {41,920) (37.672) (17,729) (21,258)
105,766 92,796 82,720 39,326 29,970
(237) (492) (8o3) (306) (197)
105,529 92,304 81,917 39,020 29,773
(14,497) (15,222) (14,052) (6,556) (6,808)
91,032 77,082 67,865 32,464 22,875
g.1 7.7 6.8 3.2 2.3

The above consolidated statements of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the

accompanying notes.
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K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS

Cash and cash
equivalents

Amounts due from
fellow subsidiaries

Amounts due from
other related parties

Amount due from a
director

Loan receivables

Prepayments,
deposits and other
receivables

Repossessed assets

Income tax
recoverable

Deferred income tax
assets

Property, plant and
equipment

Right-of-use-assets

Total assels

EQUITY

Equity attributable
to the owners of
the Company

Share capital

Reserves

Total equity

*  Below HK$1,000

Notes

16
26
26
26

14

15
18

17

12
23

19

As at
January 1, As at December 31, As at May 31,
2020 2020 2021 2022 2023
HK$'oo0 HK$'o00 HK$'oo0 HK$’000 HK$!coo
(Unaudited)
20,798 29,186 28,945 24,131 34,456
902 213,435 374,649 90,224 1,710
273 338 272 638 950
823 852 675 575 =¥
1,061,777 985,967 844,460 913,815 948,159
3,247 2,844 5,605 12,132 12,343
4,865 4,183 6,626 5,795 9,443
- - 6,049 119 -
14,436 17,827 16,943 17,380 17,864
7,053 6,313 4,682 3,537 3,634
4,907 4,142 20,166 18,961 14,999
1,119,081 1,265,087 1,309,072 1,087,307 1,043,558
¥ _¥ % i %
623,360 593,392 652,674 720,539 643,414
623,360 593,392 652,674 720,539 643,414

The above consolidated balance sheets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (CONTINUED)

Asat
January 1, As at December 31, As at May 31,
2020 '~ =020 2021 2022 2023
Notes HK$’0c00 HK$'o000 HK$'coo HK$'ooo HK$’o000
. (Unaudited)
LIABILITIES
Amount due to the
ultimate holding
company 26 - - 30 84 97
Amount due to the
immediate holding
company 26 - 250,759 262,048 10,500 10,500
Amounts due to fellow )
subsidiaries 26 165,481 37,177 9,631 - 68,514
Amounts due to other .
related parties 26 63,778 35,657 33,292 28,486 26,452
Accruals and other
payables . 21 1,749 1,722 1,774 5,481 7,862
Income tax payable 20,798 12,669 - - 7,263
Bank borrowings 22 240,564 329,248 328,103 303,005 265,392
Lease liabilities 23 3,351 4,463 20,620 19,122 14,064
Total liabilities 495,721 671,605 656,308 366,768 400,144
Total equity and :
liabilities 1,119,081 1,265,087 1,309,072 1,087,307 1,043,558

*  Below HK$1,000

The consolidated financial statements on pages 6 to 92 were approved by the Board of Directors on
November 27, 2023 and were signed on its behalf.

r

Mr. Lee She‘lrlfg'Sﬁing Ms. Lee Pik Tsong
Director Director

The above consolidated balance sheets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes,



K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED

BALANCE SHEETS OF THE COMPANY

Asat Asat
December 31, May 31,
2022 2023
Notes’ HK$'000 HKS$’000
ASSETS
Investments in subsidiaries (Note) - 645,640
Prepayments 15 3,803 5,605
Total assets 3,303 651,245
EQUITY
Equity attributable to the owners of the
Company
Share capital , 19 ¥ -*
Contribution surplus 20 - 645,640
Accumulated losses 20 (5,315) (18,097)
Total (deficit)/equity ‘ (5,315} 627,543
LIABILITIES
Amount due to a subsidiary 26 6,511 21,206
Accruals and other payables 2,607 2,406
Total liabilities 9,118 23,702
Total equity and liabilities 3,803 651,245

*  Below HK$1,000

Note: The investments in subsidiaries represent the carrying values of the net assets of the Operating Companies
attributable to the owners of the Company transferred to the Company upon completion . of the
Reorganisation (Note 1.2).

The balance sheets of the Company were approved by the Board of Directors on November 27, 2023 and
were signed on its behaif.

Mr. Lee Shel Shing Ms. Lee Pik Tsong’ -
Director Director

The above balance sheets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Share Capital Retained
capital reserve earnings Total
Notes HK$'000 HK$'oo0 HX$'coo HK$ o000
Balance at January 1, 2020

(Unaudited) -* 20,000 603,360 623,360
Comprehensive income:

Profit for the year - - 91,032 01,032
Transactions with owners:

Dividends 24 - - (121,000) {121,000}
Balance at December 31,

2020 - 20,000 573,392 593,392
Balance at January 1, 2021 -¥ 20,000 573,392 593,392
Comprehensive income:

Profit for the vear - - 77,082 77,082
Transactions with owners:

Dividends 24 - - (17,800) (17,800)
Balance at December 31, 2021 -* 20,000 632,674 652,674
Balance at January 1, 2022 ¥ 20,000 632,674 652,674
Comprehensive income:

Profit for the year - - 67,865 67,865
Balance at December 31,

2022 -* 20,000 700,539 720,539
Balance at January 1, 2022 -* 20,000 632,674 652,674
Comprehensive income:

Profit for the period - - 32,464 32,464
Balance at May 31, 2022

(Unaudited) ¥ 20,000 665,138 685,138
Balance at January i, 2023 -* 20,000 700,539 720,539
Comprehensive income:

Profit for the period - - 22,875 22,875
Transactions with owners:

Dividends 24 - - {100,000) (100,000)
Balance at May 31, 2023 =¥ 20,000 623,414 643,414

*  Below HK$1,000

The above consolidated statements of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes.
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K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended December 31, Five months ended May 31,
2020 2021 2022 2022 2023
Notes HK$'coo HK$’oc0 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
{Unaudited)
Cash flows from
operating activities
Cash generated from
operations 25(a) 227,311 276,058 200,776 74,164 10,081
Interest paid (36,502) (35,977) (22,063) (9,272) {9,662)
Income tax paid (26,154) (33,056) {8,559) - -
Net cash generated from
operating activities 164,565 207,025 169,254 64,892 419
Cash flows from
investing activities
Purchase of property,
plant and equipment 12 {1,857) (999) (1,479) {603) (1,112)
Advances to fellow
subsidiaries (315,388) {161,214) (109,772) (9,503) (5,561)
Repayments
from/{advances to) other
related parties 757 66 (366) 127 (312)
Advance to a shareholder - - - (190) -
Repayment from a
director 23 177 100 42 17
Proceeds from disposals of
property, plant and
equipment 25(c) - - 96 - 360
Bank interest received 20 1 7 - 13
Net cash used in investing
activities (316,445) (161,969} (111,414) (10,127) (6,595)

The above consolidated statements of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying
notes.
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K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

Year ended December 31, Five months ended May 31,

2020 2021 2022 2022 2023

Notes HK$'oco HK$'000 HX%'o00 HK$'oo0 HEK$' 000
{Unaudited)

Cash flows from

financing activities
Repayments of bank

borrowings 25(b) (492.,471) (429,200) (462,498) (199,792) (117,703)
Proceeds from bank

borrowings 25(b) 581,155 428,055 437,400 193,457 80,000
Payment of principal

elements of lease

liabilities 25(b) (4,270) (8,168) (12,447) (4,690) (3,675)
Payment of interest

elements of lease

liabilities 25(b) (237) (492) (803) (306) (197)
Payment of listing

expenses to be

capitalized into equity - - (1,628)
Advances from the

ultimate holding

company 25(b) - 30 54 22 13
Advances

from/(repayments to)

the immediate holding

company 25(b) 250,759 7,489 (4,627) 165 -
{Repayments

to)/advances from

fellow subsidiaries 25(b) (146,547) {40,646) (13,3890) (6,485) 63,147
(Repayments

to)/advances from other

related parties 25(b) (28,121) (2,365) (4,806) 126 (2,034)

(3,050)

Net cash generated
from/(used in)
financing activities 160,268 (45,297) (62,654) (17,503) 16,501

Net

increase/(decrease)

in cash and cash

equivalents 8,388 (241) (4,814) 37,262 10,325
Cash and cash

equivalents at beginning

of year/period 20,708 29,186 28,945 28,045 24,131

Cash and cash
equivalents at end of
year/period 16 29,186 28,945 24,131 66,207 34,4506

The above consolidated statements of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying
notes.
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1.1

1.2

K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
General information, reorganization and basis of presentation
General information

K Cash Corporation Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on October
25, 2022, as an exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Act, Cap. 22 (Act 3
of 1961, as combined and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address of the Company’s principal
place of business is 17/F, Wheelock House, 20 Pedder Street, Central, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are
principally engaged in providing unsecured loans in Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in HK$, which is the Company’s functional
and the Group’s presentation currency.

Reorganization

Prior to the incorporation of the Company and the completion of the reorganization (the
“Reorganization”) as described below, the unsecured property owner loan and SME loan business
(“Unsecured Property Owner Loan and SME Loan Business”) and the unsecured personal loan
business (“Unsecured Personal Loan Business™) were carried out by K Cash Express Limited (“K
Cash Express”) (formerly known as Konew Financial Express Limited) and K Cash Limited ("K
Cash”™) (collectively the “Operating Companies”) respectively.

The Operating Companies were controlled collectively by Mr. Lee Kun Tai, Steven, Mr. Lee
Sheung Shing and Ms. Lee Pik Tsong (collectively the “Controlling Shareholders”) throughout the
Relevant Periods.

In preparing for the listing of the Company’s shares on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited, the Group underwent the Reorganization which principally involved the
following steps:

On October 25, 2022, the Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands and allotted all its
shares to Konew Fintech Corporation Limited (“Konew Fintech”), the immediate holding
company under common control of the Controlling Shareholders.

On October 28, 2022, K Cash Express (BVI) Limited (“K Cash Express (BVI)”) was incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands with its one share allotted and issued to the Company.

On March 24, 2023, the entire issued share capital of K Cash Express held by Konew Credit
Corporation Limited (“Konew Credit”), a fellow subsidiary of the Company under common control
of the Controlling Shareholders, was transferred to K Cash Express (BVI) for a consideration of
HK$20,000,000.

On March 24, 2023, the entire issued share capital of K Cash (BVI) Limited (“K Cash (BVI)”) held
by Konew Fintech, the immediate holding company, was transferred to the Company for a
consideration of US$1.

Immediately upon completion of the said transfer, K Cash Express (BVI) and K Cash (BVI)
became the wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company.

After the completion of the Reorganization steps as described above, the Company became the
heolding company of the subsidiaries now comprising the Group.

_13_



1.2

1.3

K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

General information, reorganization and basis of presentation (Continued)
Reorganizatioﬁ (Continued)

As at the date of this report, the Company had direct or indirect interests in the following
subsidiaries:

Place and date of Issued and As at the date

Name of subsidiary incorporation Principal activities paid-up capital of this report Notes

Direct interests:

K Cash (BVI) Limited The British Virgin Investment holding 1 ordinary 100% (a)

Islands (the “BVI"), share
December g, 2019

K Cash Express (BVI) The BVL, October 28,  Investment holding 1 ordinary 100% (a)
Limited 2022 share

Indirect interests:

K Cash Express Limited Hong Kong, February  Providing unsecured 20,000,000 100% (b}
(formerly known as 24, 1999 property owner ordinary
Konew Financial loans and SME shares
Express Limited) ) loans

K Cash Limited Hong Kong, March 4,  Providing unsecured 100,000 100% b)

’ 2008 personal loans ordinary

shares
Notes:
(a) No audited statutory financial statements have been issued for the subsidiary as it is not
required to issue audited financial statements under the statutory requirement of its place
of incorporation.

(b) The statutory auditor of the relevant subsidiaries for the years ended December 31, 2020,
2021 and 2022 was PricewaterhouseCoopers Hong Kong,

Basis of presentation

The Operating Companies now comprising the Group, namely K Cash Express and K Cash that
principally engaging in the Unsecured Property Owner Loan and SME Loan business and the
Unsecured Personal Loan Business respectively, w ere under common control of the Controlling
Shareholders, immediately before and after the Reorganization. Accordingly, the Reorganization
is regarded as a business combination under common control, and for the purpose of this report,
the consolidated financial statements has been prepared on a combined basis.

The consolidated financial statements has been prepared by including the historical financial
information of the companies engaged in the Unsecured Property Owner Loan and SME Loan
business and the Unsecured Perscnal Loan Business, under the common control of Controlling
Shareholders immediately before and after the Reorganization and now comprising the Group as
if the current group structure had been in existence throughout the periods presented, or since the
date when the combining companies first came under the control of the Controlling Shareholders,
whichever is a shorter period.

_14..



1.3

K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

General information, reorganization and basis of presentation (Continued)
Basis of presentation (Continued)

The net assets of the combining companies were combined using the existing book values from
the Controlling Shareholders’ perspective. No amount is recognized in consideration for goodwill
or excess of acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities over cost at the time of business combination under common control, to the
extent of the continuation of the controlling party’s interest.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealized gains/(losses) on transactions between
group companies are eliminated upon combination/consolidation.

Basis of preparation

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the
years/periods presented, unless otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the HKICPA as set out below. The
consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared under the historical cost
convention.

HKFRS 1 “First-time adoption of Hong Keng Financial Reporting Standards” has been applied in
preparing the consolidated financial statements. However, the Group has not issued any financial
statements prior to this report. Accordingly, no reconciliation of the Group’s equity and profits
reported under previous accounting standard to its equity and profits under HKFRSs was
prepared as there is no statutory requirement.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires the
use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

..15_



2.1

2.2,1

K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Basis of preparation (Continued)

The following new standards and amendments to existing standards have been issued but are not
yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group:

Effective for
accounting
periods
beginning on or
after
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or January 1, 2024
Non-current
Amendment to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants January 1, 2024
Amendments to HKAS 7and  Supplier Finance Arrangements January 1, 2024
HKFRS 7
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease liabilities in a Sales and Leaseback January 1, 2024
Amendments to Hong Kong Classification by the Borrower of a Term January 1, 2024
Interpretation 5 Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an To be
and HKAS 28 Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture determined

According to the preliminary assessment made by the directors, no significant impact on the
Group’s financial performance and position is expected when the new standards and amendments
to existing standards above become effective. The Group expects to adopt the relevant new
standards and amendments to standards when they become effective.

Material accounting policy information
Principles of combination and equity accounting
Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct
the activities of the entity.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealized gains on transactions between group
companies are eliminated. Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income, consolidated statements of changes in equity
and consolidated balance sheets respectively.

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for
as equity transactions - that is, as transactions with the owners of the subsidiary in their capacity
as owners. The difference between fair value of any consideration paid and the relevant share
acquired of the carrying amount of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or
losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

-16 -



2,2

2.2.2

K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Material accounting policy information

Business combinations

For business combination under common control, the Group applies the principles of merger
accounting as prescribed in Hong Kong Accounting Guideline 5 “Merger Accounting for Common
Control Combinations” issued by the HKICPA. The net assets of the combining companies were
combined using the existing book values, and no amount is recognized in consideration for
goodwill or excess of acquirer's interest in the net fair value of acquiree’s identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities over cost at the time of business combination under common
control, to the extent of the continuation of the controlling party’s interest.

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations except for
business combination under common control. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of
a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred
includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.

The Group recognizes any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis. Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event of
liquidation are measured at either fair value or the present ownership interests’ proportionate
share in the recognized amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of
non-controlling interests are measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless another
measurement basis is required by HKFRSs.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the
acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the
acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising from such remeasurement are recognized in profit or
loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognized at fair value at the
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is
deemed to be an asset or liability is recognized in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standard g - Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is
classified as equity is not remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within

equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the
fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total of
consideration transferred, non-controlling interests recognized and previously held interest
measured is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a
bargain purchase, the difference is recognized directly in profit or loss.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealized gains on transactions between group

companies are eliminated. Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
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2.2

2.2.3

2.2.5

K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon receiving a dividend from
these investments if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the
period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to
the chief operating decision-maker (*CODM”). The CODM is responsible for allocating resources
and assessing performance of the operating segments, and has been identified as the chief
executive officer and executive directors of the Company that makes strategic decisions.

Financial asselts
2.2.5.1 Classification

The classification depends on the Group’s business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to collect
contractual cash flows and sell, the Group assesses whether the financial instruments’
cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”). In making this
assessment, the Group considers whether the contractual cash flows are consistent with a
basic lending arrangement i.e. interest includes only consideration for the time value of
money, credit risk, other basic lending risks and a profit margin that is consistent with a
basic lending arrangement. Where the contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or
volatility that are inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement, the related financial
asset is classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Debt instruments are those instruments that meet the definition of a financial liabilities
from the issuer’s perspective. During the years ended December 31, 2020, 2021 and 2022
and the five months ended May 31, 2022 and 2023, the Group only holds debt
instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, loan receivables, other receivables and
deposit, amount due from a director, amounts due from fellow subsidiaries and amounts
due from other related parties, which are held for collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represent SPPI thus measured at amortized cost.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for
managing those assets changes.
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2.2

2.2.5

K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED |

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

2.2.5.2Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on trade-date, the date
on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired
or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership.

2.2.5.3 Measurement
Inttial measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at FVTPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Subsequent measurement

The amortized cost is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is
measured at initial recognition: (i) minus the principal repayments; (ii) plus or minus the
cumulative amortization using the effective interest method of any difference between
that initial amount and the maturity amount; (jii) for financial assets, adjusted for any
loss allowance.

Interest income from these financial assets is included in “Interest income” using the
effective interest rate method.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability to
the gross carrying amount of a financial asset (i its amortized cost before any
impairment allowance) or to the amortized cost of a financial liability. The calculation
does not consider expected credit losses and includes transaction costs, premiums or
discounts and fees and points paid or received that are integral to the effective interest
rate,

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of financial assets and is included in “Interest income”, except for:

. purchased or originated credit-impaired (“POCI”) financial assets, whose interest
income is calculated, since initial recognition, by applying the credit-adjusted
effective interest rate to their amortized cost; and

. financial assets that are not POCI but have subsequently become credit-impaired,
whose interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to their
amortized cost (i.e. net of the expected credit loss provision). If, in a subsequent
period, the financial assets improve their qualities so that they are no longer
credit-impaired and the improvement in credit quality is related objectively to a
certain event occurring after the application of the above-mentioned rules, then
the interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to their
gross carrying amount.
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K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

2.2.5 Financial assets (Continued)

2,2,5.4Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses ("ECL”)
associated with its debt instruments carried at amortized cost. The Group recognizes a
loss allowance for such losses at the end of each reporting period. The measurement of
ECL reflects:

. An unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a
range of possible outcome.

. The time value of money.

. Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or

effort at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.

Note 3.1(b) provides more details of how the “Provision for impairment” is measured.

2.2.6 Financial liabilities

(a)

(b)

Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortized cost. A financial liability is
classified as measured at FVTPL if it is classified as held-for trading, it is a derivative or it
is designated as such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at
fair value and net gains and losses, including any interest expense, are recognized in profit
or loss. Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the
effective interest method. Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are
recognized in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is also recognized in profit
or loss.

Derecognition

The Group derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are
discharged, cancelled or expired. The Group also derecognizes a financial liability when
its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are substantiaily
different. In this case, a new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognized
at fair valuze. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
extinguished and the new financial liability with modified terms is recognized in profit or
loss.
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2.2.7

2.2.8

2.2.9

K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated balance
sheets when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The
legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the
normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptey of the Group or
the counterparty.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently carried at amortized cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognized in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings
using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of banking facilities are recognized as transaction costs of the
horrowings to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In
this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it
is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalized as a
prepayment for liquidity services and amortized over the period of the facility to which it relates.

All other borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable
income based on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in
deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period in the countries where the Group
operates and generates taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions
taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject
to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax anthorities.

(b Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary
differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset
is realized or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized only if it is probable that future taxable amount
will be available to utilize those temporary differences and losses.
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K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

2,2.9 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(c)

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally enforceable
right to offset current tax assets and current tax liabilities and when the deferred income
taxes balance relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities
are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to
settle the balances on a net basis or to realize the asset and setile the liability
simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognized in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates
to items recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

2.2,10 Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

(c)

Retirement benefit obligations

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement
benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) set up pursuant to the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance, for all of its employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are made based
on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income as they become payable in accordance with the rules
of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPT Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administrated fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed to the MPF Scheme, except for the Group’s
employer voluntary contributions, which are refunded to the Group when the employee
leaves employment prior to vesting fully in the contributions, in accordance with the rules
of the MPF Scheme.

The Group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The
contributions are recognized as an employee benefit expense when they are due and are
reduced by contributions forfeited by those employees who leave the scheme prior to
vesting fully in the contributions. Prepaid contributions are recognized as an asset to the
extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.

Bonus plans

The Group recognizes a liability and an expense for bonuses, based on a formula that
takes into consideration the profit attributable to the Company’s shareholders after
certain adjustments. The Group recognizes a provision where contractually obliged or
where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.

Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognized when they acerue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services

rendered by employees up to the date of consolidated balance sheets.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognized until the time
of leave.
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2.2.12

2.2.13

K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation;
and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognized for future operating
losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognized even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same
class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle
the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time
is recognized as interest expense.

Interest income

Where the Group is the loan originator, interest on the loans to customers is accrued based on the
contractual interest rates of the loan as earned using the effective interest method. When a
finanecial asset at amortized cost is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount to its
recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash flow discounted at the original effective
interest rate of the instrument, and continues unwinding the discount as interest income. Interest
income on impaired loans and receivables is recognized using the original effective interest rate.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset and
of allocating the interest income over the year. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial
asset or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
When calculating the effective interest rate, the Group estimates cash flows considering all
contractual terms of the financial instrument but does not consider future credit losses. The
calculation includes all fees paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.

Leases

Leases are recognized as right-of-use assets and the corresponding liabilities at the date of which
the respective leased asset is available for use by the Group.

Lease liabilities include the net present value of the following lease payments:

. fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives
receivable; -

. variable lease payments that are based on an index or arate;

. amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

. the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that

option; and

. payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee
exercising that option.
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2.2.13

K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the
measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot
be readily determined, which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a snmlar economic
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

. where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the individual lessee as a
starting point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions since third party
financing was received,

. uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk
for leases held by the Group, which does not have recent third party financing, and

. makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, country, currency and security.

Lecase payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to
profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at costs comprising the following:

. the amount of the initial measurement of lease labilities;

. any lease paymenfs made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives
received;

. any initial direct costs; and

. restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the
lease term on a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option,
the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases are recognized on a straight-line basis as an expense
in the profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a lessor is recognized in “Other income”
on a straight-line basis over the lease term (Note 5(b)). Initial direct costs incurred in cbtaining an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the underlying asset and recognized as
expense over the lease term on the same basis as lease income. The respective leased assets are
included in the consolidated balance sheets based on their nature.
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2.3.1

2.3.2

K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Summary of other accounting policies

Foreign currency translation

(a)  Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the consolidated financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are
measured using the currency of the primary economic envircnment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”).

b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at period end exchange rates are
generally recognized in profit or loss. They are deferred in equity if they relate to
qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges or are attributable to
part of the net investment in a foreign operation.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Subsequent costs
are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognized. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the reporting
period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their cost to their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Equipment 5 years

Furniture and fixtures 5 years

Leasehold improvements Shorter of lease terms on 5 years
Motor vehicles 3 to 4 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.3.4).

Gain or loss on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are
included in profit or loss,
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2.3.5

2.3.6

2.3.7

2.3.8

K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)
Repossessed assets

Upon derecognition of related loan receivables, foreclosed assets are recognized as “Repossessed
assets” on the consolidated balance sheets. Repossessed assets are measured at the lower of the
carrying amount and the fair value less cost to sell at the end of each reporting period. When the
fair value less cost to sell is lower than the carrying amount, impairment loss is recognized in
profit or loss.

Gain or loss on disposal of repossessed assets is recognized in profit or loss within ‘Other
{(losses)/gains, net’.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets
{cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting period.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents include cash on hand and deposits held at call with authorised institutions with
original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognized as a liability in the Group’s
consolidated balance sheets in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s
shareholders.

Government grant

Grants from the government are recognized at their fair value where the grant is received by the
Group, and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are recognized in the profit or loss over the period necessary
to match them with the costs that they are intended to compensate.
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K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Financial, risk and capital risk management

The Group’s activities expose it to various types of financial risks: cash flow and fair value interest
rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on
the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the
Group’s financial performance.

Financial risk factors

(a)

(b)

*

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from its cash and cash equivalents, loan receivables,
bank borrowings and amounts due from/to other related parties. Cash and cash
equivalents and bank borrowings are entitled to interest at variable rates that expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Loan receivables and amounts due to the immediate
holding company and a related party are subject to interest at fixed rates.

As at December 31, 2020, 2021 and 2022 and May 31, 2023, if market interest rates had
been 1%, 1%, 1% and 1% higher/lower with all other variables held constant, profit before
income tax for the years/period would have been HK$3,292,000, HK$3,281,000,
HK$3,031,000 and HK$1,106,000 lower/higher as a result of an increase in net interest
expense on the bank borrowings netted with loan receivables, respectively.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a customer or counterparty will default on its contractual
obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group. The Group’s main income generating
activity is lending to customers and therefore credit risk is a principal risk.

The Group’s credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries, amounts due from other related parties, amount due from a director, loan
receivables and deposits and other receivables. Management has a credit policy in place
and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis. The carrying
amount of these balances represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in
relation to financial assets which are stated as follows:

As at December 31, As at May 31,
2020 2021 2022 2023
HK$'000 HK$’co0 HK$%'o00 HK$ 000
Cash and cash equivalents
(Note 16} 29,186 28,945 24,131 34,456
Amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries (Note 26) 213,435 374,649 90,224 1,710
Amounts due from other
related parties (Note 26} 338 272 638 950
Amount due from a
director (Note 26) 852 675 575 -*
Loan receivables (Note 14) 985,967 844.460 913,815 948,150
Deposits and other
receivables (Note 15) 2,38¢ 4,522 6,475 4,481
1,232,167 1,253,523 1,035,858 989,756

Below HK$1,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Financial, risk and capital risk management (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

b)) Credit risk (Continued)

Loan recefuables

@)

Credit risk management

Unsecured loans

In respect of the Group’s unsecured loan receivables, they are not secured by any
collaterals and management has a set of procedures in place to reduce the
potential credit risks.

The Group offers different types of unsecured loans, namely unsecured property
owner loans, unsecured personal loans and unsecured small and medium
enterprises (“SME”) loans.

The Group has a set of loan approval procedures that takes into account the
external eredit data and behavioral patterns to assess the creditworthiness of its
customers requesting credit. These assessments focus on the individual credit
reports obtained from a third party, occupation and background of the customers,
the general business and economic conditions at the time of application and
corroborate with the supporting documents provided by the customers.

The Group engages debt collection agents to handle the collection of outstanding
repayments of delinquent loans. The debt collection agents would then perform
various procedures to approach and follow up with the customers on the
outstanding repayments. If procedures are considered not effective, the Group
will then initiate legal actions against the customers to recover the outstanding
amounts.

Management continuously monitors the behavior of customers and works closely
with debt collection agents on the outstanding repayments of delinquent loans.
Given the procedures and policies in place, management considers the Group’s
credit risk to unsecured loans is limited to a certain extent.

Secured loans

In respect of the Group’s secured loan receivables, they are secured by properties
as collaterals to reduce the potential credit risks.

The Group has another set of loan approval procedures to effectively manage such
risks by assessing the creditworthiness of its customers requesting credit in
consideration of the underlying property to be mortgaged. These assessments
focus on the loan-to-value ratios in respect of residential, commercial, industrial
and other property mortgage loans in accordance with the mortgage type (i.e. first
or subordinated mortgage loans), the customers’ credit history, the usage,
valuation and market expectation on the relevant properties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Financial, risk and capital risk management (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

As set out in the loan agreements of secured loans, customers agree to execute a
legal charge in the Group’s favor over the property as collateral. In any event of
default by customers, the Group has the right to charge the defaulted interest on
the overdue loan principal and interest. The agreements are legally enforceable
that if the Group takes actions to recover the outstanding loan principal and
interest, the customer will also be liable for payment of relevant legal fees
incurred by the Group.

Management continuously monitors the fair values of the properties as collateral
to ensure they are sufficient to recover the outstanding loan principal and interest,
and considers the Group’s credit risk to secured loans is limited to a certain extent.

Provision for expected credit losses

The Group provides for expected credit losses on financial assets based on the
amount of outstanding loan receivables taking into account the underlying risk
profile, forward-looking information, historical loss experience and performance
regarding historical loss rate of the loans with similar attributes.

The Group applies the “three-stage” approach on loan receivables to provide for
expected credit losses (“ECL”) as outlined in HKFRS 9. The maximum period
considered when measuring ECL is the maximum contractual period over which
the Group is exposed to credit risk, and impairment is based on the changes in
credit quality since initial recognition as follows:

. Stage 1: Financial instruments that are not credit-impaired on initial
recognition and has their credit risk continuously monitored by the
Group. Provision for impairment is measured at an amount equal to the
portion of lifetime expected credit losses that result from default events
possible within the next 12 months (“12-month ECL");

. Stage 2: Financial instruments with significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, but are not yet deemed to be credit-impaired.
Provision for impairment is measured based on expected credit losses on
a lifetime basis (“lifetime ECL”"); and

. Stage 3: Financial instruments that are credit impaired where provision
for impairment is measured based on lifetime ECL.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both guantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost ox effort.
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Financial, risk and capital risk management (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing
whether credit risk has increased significantly:

. significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk;

. any actual or expected significant deterioration in operating results or
financial conditions of customers;

. existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations; and

. an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Unless identified at an earlier stage, loan receivables are deemed to have suffered
a significant increase in credit risk when they are 30 days past due (“DPD”).
These financial assets are then transferred from Stage 1 to Stage 2 but are not yet
deemed to be credit-impaired and default.

Definition of default and credit-impaired
The Group determines that a financial instrument is credit-impaired and in Stage
3 by considering relevant objective evidence, primarily whether contractual

payments of either principal or interest are past due for more than 9o days.

The following qualitative factors would also be considered in determining
whether default has occurred:

» The customer is deceased;

. The customer is insolvent;

. The customer is experiencing significant financial difficulties; or

. It is becoming probable that the customer will enter into bankruptcy.

The factors above have been applied to the loan receivables of the Group and are
consistent with the definition of default used for internal credit risk management
purposes. Therefore, the definitions of credit-impaired and default are aligned as
far as possible so that Stage 3 represents all loans that are considered defaulted or
otherwise credit-impaired.
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Financial, risk and capital risk management (Continued)

Finaneial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(ii)

Measurement of ECL

The Group measures expected credit losses, net of financial assets under HKFRS
9 ECL model. The ECL is measured on either a 12-month or lifetime basis,
depending on whether a significant increase in credit risk has oceurred since
initial recognition or whether an asset is considered to be credit-impaired. The
estimation of ECL are unbiased and probability weighted and incorporate all
available information which is relevant to the assessment including information
about past events, current conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts of
future events and economic conditions at each of the reporting date. The
measurement of ECL is a function of PD, EAD and LGD that are defined below:

. Probability of Default (“PD”): The PD represents the likelihood of a
customer defaulting on the corresponding loan and interest receivable (as
per “Definition of default and credit-impaired” above), either over the
next 12 months or over the remaining lifetime of the loan,

. Exposure at Default (“EAD”): The EAD represents the expected balance
at default, taking into account the repayment of principal and interest
from the balance sheet date to the default event together with any
expected drawdowns of committed facilities. EAD is based on the
amounts the Group expects to be owed at the time of default, over the
next 12 months or over the remaining lifetime; and

. Loss given Default (“LGD”): The LGD represents expected losses on the
EAD given the event of default, taking into account, among other
atiributes, the mitigating effect of collateral value at the time it is
expected to be realized and the time value of money. LGD is calculated on
either 12-month or lifetime basis, representing the percentage of loss
expected to be made if the default occurs in the next 12 months or over
the remaining expected lifetime of the loan respectively.

The ECL is determined by projecting the PD, EAD and LGD of each individual
exposure for each future month. These three components are multiplied together
and adjusted for the likelihood of survival (i.e. the exposure has not been prepaid
or defaulted in an earlier month), This effectively calculates an ECL for each
future month and further aggregated.

The ECL is measured from the initial recognition of the financial assets. The
maximum period considered when measuring ECL should either be on a 12-
month or a lifetime basis is the maximum contractual period over which the
Group is exposed to credit risk.

The lifetime PD is calculated by applying a maturity profile to the i2-month PD.
The maturity profile set out how defaults develop on a loan portfolio from the
point of initial recognition throughout the lifetime of the loans. The maturity
profile is based on historical data and is assumed to be the same across all loans
in a portfolio supported by historical analysis.
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Financial, risk and capital risk management (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

(iii)

The 12-month and lifetime EADs are determined based on the expected payment
profile that varies by different loan products.

The 12-month and lifetime L.GDs are determined based on the factors which
impact the recoveries made after default occurs:

. For unsecured property owner loans and secured loans, this is based on
the type and expected fair value of the collateral, time to repossession and
estimated recovery costs. The LGD is minimal if the outstanding loan and
interest receivable could be substantially recovered through repossession
and forced sales of relevant collaterals;

. For unsecured personal loans and SME loans, this is influenced by the
Group’s collection strategies.

The 12-month ECL is calculated by multiplying the 12-month PD, LGD and EAD,
whereas the lifetime ECL is calculated using the lifetime PD.

Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL mode]

The assessment of ECL incorporates forward-looking information based on
economic forecasts, apply these assumption to the ECL model to estimate future
credit losses and probability weight the result to determine an unbiased ECL
estimate and is performed on a quarterly basis at a portfolio level. The criteria
used in the assessment are monitored and reviewed periodically for
appropriateness by the management. The Group considers forward-looking
information with reference to the indicators set out below:

. Gross Domestic Produets (“GDP™); and
. Unemployment rates.
In Note 3.1(b)(vii), the sensitivity analysis provides an indication of the sensitivity

of the result to different weightings being applied to different economic
assumptions.
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Financial, risk and capital risk management (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(iv) Credit risk exposure

The staging of loan receivables using the Group’s ECL model is set out in the table

below:
Stage1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12-month Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL ECL Total
HK$'o000 HK$'o00 HK$’000 HK$'o00
As at December 31,
2020
Loan receivables
- Unsecured property
owner loans 524,882 25,025 163,450 713,357
- Unsecured personal
loans 268,815 10,537 40,803 320,155
- SME loans 57,130 743 705 58,668
- Secured subordinated
mortgage loans 2,013 122 260 2,305
Less: Provision for
impairment
- Unsecured property
owner loans (2,278) (1,363) (11,431) (15,072}
- Unsecured personal
loans ' (38,802) (6,847) (38,269) (84,008)
- SME loans (8,265) (483) (746) (9,494)
- Secured subordinated
mortgage loans (9) n (18) (34)
Loan receivables - net 803,396 27,727 154,844 085,967
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Financial, risk and capital risk management (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

((:)) Credit risk (Continued)

(iv) Credit risk exposure (Continued)

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12-month Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL ECL Total

HK$'o00 HK$'000 HK$'o00 HK$ oo00
As at December 31,

2021
Loan receivables
- Unsecured property

owner loans 431,562 20,849 182,507 634,918
- Unsecured personal

loans 227,897 3,620 28,154 250,680
- SME loans 40,894 1,238 7,460 49,592
- Secured subordinated

mortgage loans 646 1,039 251 1,936
Less: Provision for

impairment

- Unsecured property

owner loans (2,350) (1,104) (11,293) (14,747)
- Unsecured personal

loans - (41,444) (3,200) (26,609) (71,262)
- SME loans (7,437) (1,095) (7,051} (15,583)
- Secured subordinated

mortgage loans (4) (55) (15) (74)
Loan receivables - net 649,764 21,202 173,404 844,460
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Financial, risk and capital risk management (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(iv) Credit risk exposure (Continued)

Stage1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12-month Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL ECL Total

HX$’ 000 HK$'oo0 HK$ 000 HK$’o00

As at December 31,
2022

Loan receivables
- Unsecured property

owner loans 427,064 27,723 274,273 720,060
- Unsecured personal loans 193,064 7,979 33,510 234,553
- SME loans 44,200 1,045 9,058 54,303
Less: Provision for

impairment

- Unsecured property

owner loans (1,385) (892) (14,282) (16,559)
- Unsecured personal leans (31,877) (6,725) (32,796) (71,398)
- SME loans (7,298) (881) (8,865} (17,044)
Loan receivables - net 624,668 28,249 260,808 913,815
As at May 31, 2023
Loan receivables
- Unsecured property

owner loans 428,904 20,175 288,745 737,824
- Unsecured personal loans 219,890 4,584 37,017 261,491
- SME loans 50,726 53 6,181 56,960
Less: Provision for

impairment

- Unsecured property

owner loans (999) (463) (10,121) (11,583)
- Unsecured personal loans (41,533) (4,090) (35,375) (80,998}
- SME loans {9.581) (47) (5,.907) (15,535)
Loan receivables -net 647,407 20,212 280,540 048,159

(v) Collaterals held as security

The Group holds collateral against certain loan receivables in the form of
mortgages over property. As at December 31, 2020 and 2021, 0.2% and 0.2% of
the Group’s gross loan receivables were secured by mortgages over property,
respectively. Majority of the collateral are residential properties, commercial
properties and industrial properties and all of the collateral are located in Hong
Kong.
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Financial, risk and capital risk management (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

b) Credit risk (Continued)

(vi)

Expected credit losses. net

The expected credit losses, net recognized during the year/period is impacted by a
variety of factors, as described below:

4] Loans recovered or repaid during the year/period;

(ii) Transfers between Stage 1 and Stages 2 or 3 due to financial assets
experiencing significant increases (or decreases) of credit risk or
becoming credit-impaired, and the consequent “step up” (or “step down”)

between 12-month and lifetime ECL;

(iii) Impacts on year end ECL of exposures transferred between stages during

the year/period; and

(iv) Financial assets derecognized during the year/period and write-offs of
provision related to assets that were written off during the year/period.

The following tables explain the changes in the gross carrying amount of the
Group’s gross loan receivables from the beginning to the end for each reporting

period:

Balance at January 1, 2020
(Unaudited)
New financial assets originated
Changes in interest accrual
Loans recovered or repaid during
the year
Transfer from Stage 1to Stage 2
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1
Total transfer between stages
Write-offs

As at December 31, 2020
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Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
HX$'o00 HK$%'o00 HX$ 000 HK$’ooo
992,209 31,058 131,601 1,154,958
503,715 - - 503,715
255,805 7,475 40,976 304,256
{759,053) (25,438) (32,565)  (817,056)
(140,353) 140,353 - -
- (116,213) 116,213 -
(201} - 201 -
808 (808) - -
(139,836) 23,332 116,504 -
- - (51,298} (51,208)
852,840 36,427 205,308 1,094,575
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Financial, risk and capital risk management {Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Balance at January 1, 2021

New financial assets originated

Changes in interest accrual

Loans recovered or repaid during the year
Transfer from Stage 1to Stage 2

Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3

Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3

Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1

Total transfer between stages

Write-offs

As atDecember 31, 2021

Balance at January 1, 2022

New financial assets originated or
transferred

Changes in interest accrual

Loans recovered or repaid during the year

Transfer frorm Stage 1to Stage 2

Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3

Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3

Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1

Total transfer between stages

Write-offs

As at December 31, 2022

Balance at January 1, 2023

New financial assets originated

Changes in interest accrual

Loans recovered or repaid during the year
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2

Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3

Transfer from Stage 1to Stage 3

Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1

Total transfer between stages

Write-offs

As at May 31, 2023
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Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
HEK$'oo0 HK$ 000 HK$'oco  HK$'coo
852,840 36,427 205,308 1,094,575
394,645 - - 394,645
213,061 8,085 48,057 270,103
(667,111) (49.275)  (45.842)  (762,228)
(91,581) 91,581 - -
- (59,366) 59,366 -
(2,452) - 2,452 -
697 (697) - -
(93,336) 31,518 61,818 -
- - (50,969)  (50,969)
700,000 26,755 218,372 946,126
700,999 26,755 218,372 946,126
448,140 5.845 58,591 512,576
186,324 6,883 40,737 233,944
(539,411) (39,177) _ (55,005)  (633,593)
(97,834) 97,834 - -
- (60,025} 60,025 -
(34,358) - 34,358 -
1,368 (1,368) - -
(130,824) 36,441 94,383 -
- - (40,237) (40,237
665,228 36,747 316,841 1,018,816
665,228 36,747 316,841 1,018,816
231,410 - - 231,410
74,716 2,684 27,072 104,672
(218,496) (9,834) (50,946}  (279,276)
(38,735} 38,735 - -
- (38,665) 38,665 -
(19,458) - 19,458 -
4,855 (4,855) - -
(53,338) (4.785) 58,123 -
- - (19,347) (19,347}
699,520 24,812 331,943 1,056,275
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Financial, risk and capital risk management (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

) Credit risk (Continued)

The following tables explain the changes in the provision for impairment from the
beginning to the end for each reporting period:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
HK$'ooo HK$coo HK$'ocoo  HK$000

Balance at January 1, 2020 {Unaudited) 42,094 5,803 40,543 88,530
New financial assets originated 21,775 - - 21,775
Loans recovered or repaid during the year (11,838) (18,537) (861) (31,236)
Transfer from Stage t to Stage 2 (8,185) 8,185 - -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 - {44,066) 44,066 -
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (15) - 15 -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 650 (650) - -
Impact of ECL for the year 4,963 57,875 17,999 80,837
Total transfer between stages (2,587) 21,344 62,080 80,837
Write-offs - - (51,298) (51,298)
As at December 31, 2020 49,444 8,700 50,464 108,608
Balance at January 1, 2021 49,444 8,700 50,464 108,608
New financial assets originated 23,345 - - 23,345
Loans recovered or repaid during the year (14,593) (21,731) (2,687) (39,011)
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (4,972) 4,972 - -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 - (32,573) 32,573 -
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (193) - 193 -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 138 (138) - -
Impact of ECL for the year (1,934) 46,233 15,394 59,693
Total transfer between stages (6,961) 18,404 48,160 59,603
Write-offs - - (50,969) (50,969)
As at December 31, 2021 51,235 5,463 44,968 101,666
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Financial, risk and capital risk management (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
HK$'00o0 HK$ooo HK$'ocoo HK$'000
Balance at January 1, 2022 51,235 5,463 44,968 101,666
New financial assets originated or
transferred 17,917 41 1,766 19,724
Loans recovered or repaid during the
year (10,998) (16,811) (7,161 (34,970)
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (17,376} 17,376 - -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 - (41,366) 41,366 -
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (i52) - 152 -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 7 (7 - -
Impact of ECL for the year (73) 43,802 15,089 58,818
Total transfer between stages (17,594) 19,805 56,607 58,818
Write-offs - - (40,237) {40,237)
As at December 31, 2022 40,560 8,498 55,943 105,001
Balance at January 1, 2023 40,560 8,498 55,9453 105,001
New financial assets originated 30,631 - - 30,631
Loans recovered or repaid during the
year (13,965) (2,092) (16,929)  (32,986)
Transfer from Stage 1to Stage 2 (4,068) 4,068 - -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 - (22,553) 22,553 -
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (4,273) - 4,273 -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 340 (340) - -
Impact of ECL for the year 2,888 17,019 4,910 24,817
Total transfer between stages (5,113) {1,806) 31,736 24,817
Write-offs - - (19,347) (19,347)
As at May 31, 2023 52,113 4,600 51,403 108,116
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Financial, risk and capital risk management (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

b) Credit risk (Continued)

(vii)  Sensitivity analysis

The ECL is sensitive to the inputs used in ECL model adopted by the Group,
macroeconomic variables in the forward-look information incorporated,
economic scenario weighting and other factors considered. Changes in these
inputs, assumptions and judgments impact the assessment of significant increase
in credit risk and the measurement of ECL at the end of the Relevant Periods.

The following table summarized the impact on ECL on loan receivables at the end
of each reporting period by varying individual inputs and forward-look
information to the ECL model:

Impact on ECL of loan receivables
Changes in inputs or forward-

looking information As at December 31, As at May 31,
2020 2021 2022 2023
- Assuming a further 10% Decrease by Decrease by Decrease by Decrease by
weighting added to the HK$2,527,000 HK$1,818,000 HK$1,383,000 HK$1,810,000
probability of the
optimistic scenario and a
corresponding 10%
reduction from the base
scenario
- Assuming a further 10% Increase by Increase by Increase by Increase by
weighting added to the HK$4,102,000 HK$2,493,000 HK$1,726,048 HK$2,512,000
probability of the

pessimistic scenario and a
corresponding 10%

reduction from the base
scenario
- Assuming GDP Increase by Increase by Increase by Increase by
increase/decrease by 0.5% HK$712,000 or HK$397,0000r HKS$15,0000r  HK$5,000 01
deerease by decrease by decrease by decrease by
HK$703,000 HK$394,000 HK3$54,000 HK$4,000
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Financial, risk and capital risk management (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

b) Credit risk (Continued)

(viii)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off financial assets, in whole or in part, when it has exhausted
all practical recovery efforts and has concluded there is no reasonable expectation
of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include
(i) ceasing enforcement activity and (ii) where the Group’s recovery method is
through collateral and the value of the collateral is such that there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering in full.

The Group may write-off financial assets that are still subject to enforcement
activity. The outstanding contractual amounts of such assets written off during
the years ended December 31, 2020, 2021, 2022 and the five months ended May
31, 2022 and 2023 were HK$51,298,000, HK$50,969,000, HK$40,237,000,
HK$17,353,000 and HK$19,347,000 respectively. The Group continues to seek
recovering the amounts it is legally owed in full, but which have been partially
written off due to no reasonable expectation of full recovery.

Customers of the Group are individual borrowers. During the years ended
December 31, 2020, 2021, 2022 and the five months ended May 31, 2022 and
2023, the Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk as there were no
customer individually contributed 10% or more to the Group’s interest income. As
at December 31, 2020, 2021, 2022 and May 31, 2023, no customer individually
contributed 10% or more to the Group’s outstanding loan receivable balances.

Other financial assets

While cash and cash equivalents, deposits and other receivables, amount due
from a director, amounts due from fellow subsidiaries and amounts due from
other related parties are also subject to impairment assessment required by
HKFRS ¢, the Group makes periodic assessments on their recoverability based on
historical settlement records and past experience, and considered the relevant
expected credit losses are immaterial.

(c) Liquidity risk

Prudent liguidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the
availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facility. Cash flow
forecasting is performed by management. The Group monitors its rolling forecasts of the
Group’s liquidity requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash to meet operational needs
while maintaining sufficient headroom on its undrawn committed borrowing facilities at
all times so that the Group does not breach borrowing limits or covenants (where
applicable} on any of its borrowing facilities. Such forecasting takes into consideration the
Group’s debt financing plans, covenant compliance, compliance with internal financial
position ratio targets and, if applicable legal requirements.
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Financial, risk and capital risk management (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

As at December 31, 2020, 2021, 2022 and May 31, 2023, the Group has undrawn banking
facilities of approximately HK$16,000,000, HK$31,000,000, HK$40,000,000 and
HK$70,000,000 respectively. All the undrawn borrowing facilities expire within one year
and are subject to annual review by banks.

The Group’s primary cash requirements, apart from granting loans to customers, are for
payment of bank borrowings and for operating expenses.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities, including
lease liabilities, by categorizing into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the end of the reporting period to the contractual maturity date. Specifically,
certain bank borrowings contain a repayment on demand clause which can be exercised at
the bank’s sole discretion to pay, that is if the lender were to exercise their unconditional
right to call the loans with immediate effect. The amounts disclosed in the table are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows and the earliest date the Group can be required to
pay. Balances within twelve months approximate their carrying amounts as impact from
discounting is not significant.

Within Between Between
1year or on 1and2 2and 5 Over 5
demand years years years Total

HK$’000 HK$ 000 HK$'o00 HK%'oo0 HK$’ 000

At December 31,

2020
Cash and cash

equivalents (Note

16) 29,186 - - - 29,186
Amounts due from

fellow subsidiaries

(Note 26) 213,435 - - - 213,435
Amounts due from

other related

parties (Note 26) 338 - - - 338
Amount due from a

director (Note 26) 177 100 400 175 852
Loan receivables 726,805 378,386 555,387 232,658 1,893,236
Deposits and other

receivables (Note

15) 2,389 - - - 2,389
Total financial

assets 972,330 378,486 555,787 232,833 2,139,436
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(ec) Liquidity risk (Continued)

Within Between Between
1yearoron l1and 2 2and 5 Over 5
demand years years years Total
HK$'co0 HK$'coo HK$’ 000 HX$'coo HK$' 000
At December 31,
2020
Accruals and other
payables (Note 21) (1,703) - - - (1,703)
Amount due to the
immediate holding
company (Note 26) (250,759) - - - (250,759)
Amounts due to
fellow subsidiaries
{(Note 26) (37.177) - - - (37.177)
Amounts due to
other related
parties (Note 26) {35,657) - - - (35,657)
Bank borrowings
(Note 22) (328,799) (449) - - (329,248)
Lease liabilities
(Note 23) (3.357) (808) (486} - (4,651)
Total financial
liabilities (657.452) (1,257) (486) - (659,195}
At December 31,
2021
Cash and cash
equivalents (Note
16) 28,045 - - - 28,945
Amounts due from
fellow subsidiaries
(Note 26) 374,649 - - - 374,649
Amounts due from
other related
parties (Note 26) 272 - - - 272
Amount due from a
director (Note 26) 100 100 400 75 675
Loan receivables 486,259 285,996 430,222 191,518 1,393,005
Deposits and other
receivables (Note .
15) 4,522 - - - 4,522
Total financial
assels 894,747 286,006 430,622 161,593 1,803,058
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(c) Ligquidity risk (Continued)

Within Between Between
1year or on 1and 2 2and 5 Over 5
demand years years years Total
HK$'o00 HK$’000 HK$'oo00 HEK$’000 HK$'000
At December 31,
2021
Accruals and other
payables (Note 21) (1,615) - - - (1,615)
Amount due to the
ultimate holding
company (Note 26) (30) - - - (30)
Amount due to the
immediate holding
company (Note 26) (262,048) - - - (262,048)
Amounts due to
fellow subsidiaries
(Note 26) (9,631) - - - (9,631)
Amounts due to
other related
parties (Note 26} (33,292) - - - (33,292)
Bank borrowings
(Note 22) (317,061) (11,042) - - (328,103)
Lease liabilities .
(Note 23) (8,233) (8,335) (4,768) - (21,336)
Total financial
liabilities (632,810) (19,377) (4,768) - (656,955)
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(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)

Within Between Between
1year or on 1and 2 2and 5 Over 5
demand years years years Total

HK$'o00 HK$'o00 HK$'oc0 HK$'o00 HK$'coo

At December 31,

2022
Cash and cash

equivalents (Note

16) 24,131 - - - 24,131
Amounts due from

fellow subsidiaries

(Note 26) 90,224 - - - 90,224
Amounts due from

other related

parties (Note 26) 638 - - - 638
Amount due from a

director (Note 26) 100 100 375 - 575
Loan receivables 550,352 289,646 436,509 207,075 1,483,582

Deposits and other
receivables (Note

15) 6,475 - - - 6.475
Total financial

assets 671,920 289,746 456,884 207,075 1,605,625
Accruals and other

payables (Note 21) (5:473) - - - (5,473)
Amount due to the

ultimate holding

company (Note 26) (84) - - - (84)
Amount due to the

immediate holding

company (Note 26) (10,500) - - - (10,500}
Amounts due to

other related

parties (Note 26) (28,486) - - - (28,486)
Bank borrowings

(Note 22) (298,287) (4,808) - - (303,095)
Lease liabilities

(Note 23) (12,451) (6,193) (1,170) . (19,814)
Total financial

liabilities {355,281) (11,001} (1,170) - (367,452)
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(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)

Within Between Between
1year or on 1and 2 2and 5 Qvers
demand years years years Total

HK$'ooo HK$'o00 HK$'oo0 HK$'o00 HX$'o00

AtMay 31, 2023
Cash and cash

equivalents (Note

16) 34,456 - -
Amounts due from

fellow subsidiaries

(Note 26) 1,710 - - - 1,710
Amounts due from

other related parties

{Note 26) 950 - - - 950
Amount due from a

director (Note 26) -* - - - -*
Loan receivables 560,566 298,155 456,177 201,060 1,515,958
Deposits and other

receivables (Note 15) 4,481 - -

L

34,456

4,481

Total financial
assets 602,163 208,155 456,177 201,060 1,557,555

Accruals and other

payables (Note 21) (4,829} - - - (4,829)
Amount due to the

ultimate helding

company {Note 26) (97) - - - (97)
Amount due to the

immediate holding

company (Note 26) (10,500) - - - (10,500)
Amount due to fellow

subsidiaries (Note

26) (68,514) - - - (68,514)
Amounts due to other

related parties (Note

26) (26,452) - - - (26,452)
Bank borrowings

{Note 22) (262,770) {2,622) - - (265,392)
Lease liabilities (Note

23) (9,746) (5,991) (481) - (16,218)

Total financial
liabilities (382,008) (8,613) (481) - (392,002)

#  Below HK$1,000
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K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Financial, risk and capital risk management (Continued)
Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern in order to provide returns to the shareholder and benefits for other stakeholders
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends
paid to member, return capital to member, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt
divided by total equity. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (comprising borrowings, amount
due to the ultimate holding company, amount due to the immediate holding company, amounts
due to fellow subsidiaries, amounts due to other related parties and lease liabilities in the
consolidated balance sheets) less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’
as shown in the consolidated balance sheets.

The Group’s strategy remains unchanged and the gearing ratio and net cash position of the
Group as at December 31, 2020, 2021, 2022 and May 31, 2023 are as follows:

As at December 31, As at May 31,
2020 2021 2022 2023
HK$'co0 HK$’ o000 HK$’o00 HK$'000
Bank borrowings (Note 22) 320,248 328,103 303,095 265,392
Amount due to the ultimate
holding company (Note 26) - 30 84 97
Amount due to the immediate
holding company (Note 26) 250,759 262,948 10,500 10,500
Amounts due to fellow
subsidiaries (Note 26) 37,177 9,631 - 68,514
Amounts due to other related
parties (Note 26) 35,657 33,262 28,486 26,452
Accruals and other payables
(Note 21) 1,722 1,774 5,481 7,862
Lease liabilities (Note 23) 4,463 20,620 19,122 14,064
Less: Cash and cash
equivalents (Note 16) (29,186) (28,945) (24,131) (34,456)
Net debt 629,840 627,453 342,637 358,425
Total equity 593,392 652,674 720,539 643,414
Gearing ratio 106.1% 96.1% 47.6% 55.7%
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K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Financial, risk and capital risk management (Continued)
Fair value estimation

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities carried at amortized cost approximate their
carrying amounts due to their short-term maturities, and the impact of discounting is not
significant.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are addressed below.

Impairment of loan receivables

The Group assesses expected credit losses on loan receivables based on assumptions about risk of
default based on PD, LGD and EAD discussed in Note 3.1 (b). Management judgement will be
involved in making assumptions and selecting the inputs to its ECL calculation, based on the
Group’s past history, present market conditions as well as forward looking information at the end
of each reporting period. Details of the estimation techniques, key assumptions and inputs used
are disclosed in Note 3.1 (b).
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K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Segment information and revenue, other income and losses, net

()

Segment information

The CODM has been identified as the chief executive officer and executive directors of the
Company who review the Group’s internal reporting in order to assess performance and
allocate resources. Provision of unsecured loans in Hong Kong is the only segment in
internal reporting to the chief executive officer and executive directors for the years ended
December 31, 2020, 2021, 2022 and the five months ended May 31, 2022 and 2023. As
the Group has only one operating segment that qualifies as reporting segment under
HKFRS 8 and the information that is regularly reviewed by the CODM for the purposes of
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segment is the
consolidated financial statements of the Group, no separate segmental analysis is
presented. The CODM assesses the performance based on a measure of profit for the
reporting period, and considers all business is included in a single operating segment.

Revenue represents interest income earned and derived from different loan products and
are summarised as follows:

Five months ended May
Year ended December 31, 31,
2020 2021 2022 2022 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’coo HK$'o00
(Unaudited)
Interest income
derived from:
- Unsecured
property
owner loans 186,549 169,626 146,788 62,540 69,601
- Unsecured
personal
loans 106,386 87,074 74,624 32,026 29,088
- SME loans 10,511 12,8097 12,068 4,695 5,083
- Secured
subordinated
mortgage
loans 810 506 464 219 -

304,256 270,103 233,944 99,480 104,672

The Group conducts the Unsecured Property Owner Loan Business and the Unsecured
Personal Loan Business in Hong Kong and the interest income is generated from loans to
external customers in Hong Kong,

No customer individually contributed 10% or more to the Group’s interest income during

the years ended December 31, 2020, 2021, 2022 and the five months ended May 31, 2022
and 2023.
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K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Segment information and revenue, other income and losses, net (Continued)
) Other income and (losses)/gains, net

Year ended December 31, Five months ended May 31,

2020 2021 2022 2022 2023

HK% o000 HK$'oo0 HK$'c00 HK$'o000 HK$'o00
{(Unaudited)

Other income
Government

grant (Note) 4,520 - 1,767 304 -
Rental income

from fellow

subsidiaries

(Note 26(b)) 1,075 3,880 8,287 3,465 176
Rental income

from arelated

party (Note

26(b)) 51 52 30 22 952
Others 20 4 .10 1 15

5,666 3,936 10,094 3,792 1,143

Other

(losses)/gains

, net
{Provision

for)/reversal of

impairment of

repossessed

assets (Note 18) (241) 181 27 107 33
Loss on disposal

of property,

plant and

equipment

(Note 25(a)) (16) (24) {219) (8) -
Gain on :

termination of

lease (Note

25(a)) - - 18 - 660

(257) 157 (a74) 99 693

Note: Government grant represents the subsidies received from the Employment
Support Scheme launched by the government of the Hong Xong Special
Administrative Region.
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K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Expenses by nature

Year ended December 31, Five months ended May 31,
2020 2021 2022 2022 2023
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'o00 HK$'000 HK$'000
(Unaudited)
Employee benefit
expenses
- Salaries and bonus 49,069 55.375 43,303 19,499 14,942
- Pension and retirement
benefits 1,303 1,160 1,123 489 460
- Other staff benefits and
welfare 1,707 1,702 3,143 1,071 915
Advertising and marketing
expenses 20,840 19,173 18,847 3,646 6,085
Depreciation of right-of-
use assets (Note 23(b)) 4,320 8,301 12,315 4,925 3,222
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
(Note 12) 2,581 2,606 2,300 978 655
Office expenses 2,732 2,304 1,882 797 1,248
IT services fee 1,549 1,559 780 650 -
Expenses related to short-
term lease (Note 23(b)) 5,303 4,263 2,021 1,144 2,088
Subscription fee 1,091 1,115 1,069 426 534
Collection fee 1,523 738 a8¢ 672 22
Search fee and valuation 1,025 922 1,092 381 450
Listing expenses - - 5,315 - 11,162
Legal and professional
fees 474 582 1,112 880 443
Auditor’s remuneration 443 174 218 112 112
Bank charges 457 488 417 170 194
Donations - 150 420 40 -
Repair and maintenance 889 953 799 328 455
Motor vehicle expenses 254 302 237 76 251
Recruitment and training
expenses i53 486 162 1 -
Utility expenses 76 163 322 100 144
Building management fee 86 499 0953 433 271
Stamp duties 147 i 8 2 1,593
Others 667 487 773 224 372
97,589 103,503 100,509 37,044 45,618
Represented by:
Selling expenses 39,868 35,140 34,375 9,484 12,159
General and
administrative expenses 57,721 68,363 66,134 27,560 33,459
97,589 103,503 100,509 37,044 45,618
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K CASH CORPORATICON LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Benefits and interests of directors (disclosures required by section 383 of the Hong
Kong companies ordinance (cap. 622) and companies (disclosure of information
about benefits of directors) regulation (cap. 622g)

(a) Directors’ emoluments

The remuneration of the chief executive and the directors for the years ended December
31, 2020, 2021, 2022 and the five months ended May 31, 2022 and 2023 are as follows:

Employer's

Allowances  contribution

Discretionary  and benefit to pension
Fees Salaries bonuses in kind scheme Total
HK$'o000 HK$'000 HK$’co0 HK$'000 HK$%’000 HK$’o00

Year ended

December 31,

2020
Mr. Lee Kun Tai,

Steven (Note i) - 6,000 - - 18 6,018
Ms. Wong Cheuk

$ze (Note ii) - 900 150 1 18 1,069
Mr. Lee Sheung

Shing (Note iii) - - - - - -
Ms. Lee Pik :

Tsong (Note iif} - 780 - 1,560 - 2,240
Ms. Chan Wing

Sze (Note iii) - 5,040 2,770 - 18 7,828
Ms. Kan Pui Yan

(Note iii) - 2,160 450 1 18 2,629

- 14,880 3,370 1,562 72 19,884

Year ended

December 31,

2021
Mr. Lee Kun Tai,

Steven (Note i) - 6,000 - - 18 6,018
Ms. Wong Cheuk

Sze (Note ii) - 927 304 1 18 1,250
Mr. Lee Sheung

Shing (Note iii) - - - - - -
Ms. Lee Pik

Tsong (Note iii) - 2,040 - 1,560 - 3,600
Ms. Chan Wing

Sze (Note ii) - 5,292 4,003 - 18 9,403
Ms. Kan Pui Yan

{Noteiii) - 2,126 1,206 - 18 3,350

- 16,385 5,603 1,561 72 23,621
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K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Benefits and interests of directors (disclosures required by section 383 of the Hong
Kong companies ordinance (cap. 622) and companies (disclosure of information
about benefits of directors) regulation (cap. 622g) (Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

The remuneration of the chief executive and the directors for the years ended December
31, 2020, 2021 and 2022 and the five months ended May 31, 2022 and 2023 are as follows:

(Continued)
Employer’s
Allowances  contribution
Discretionary  and benefit to pension
Fees Salaries bonuses in kind scheme Total
HK3'o00 HK$%’000 HK$'000 HK$'o00 HK$’000 HK$'oo00
Year ended
December 31,
2022
Mr. Lee Kun Tai,
Steven (Notei) - 6,000 - - 18 6,018
Ms. Wong Cheuk
Sze (Note ii) - 955 120 10 18 1,103
Mr. Lee Sheung
Shing (Note iii) - - - - - -
Ms. Lee Pik
Tsong (Note iii) - 1,700 - 1,300 - 3,000
Ms. Chan Wing
Sze (Note iii) - 3,180 - 3 10 3,193
Ms. Kan Pui Yan
{Note iii) - 1,363 - 10 10 1,382
- 13,198 120 1,323 56 14,697
Five months
ended May 31,
2022
(Unaudited)
Mr. Lee Kun Tai,
Steven (Note 1) - 2,500 - - 8 2,508
Ms. Wong Cheuk
Sze (Note ii} - 208 6 3 8 415
Mr, Lee Sheung
Shing (Note iii) - - - - - -
Ms. Lee Pik
Tsong (Note iii) - 850 - 650 - 1,500
Ms. Chan Wing
Sze (Note iii) - 2,271 - 3 8 2,282
Ms. Kan Pui Yan
(Note iii) - 973 - 3 8 984
- 6,992 6 659 32 7,689
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K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Benefits and interests of directors (disclosures required by section 383 of the Hong
Kong companies ordinance (cap. 622) and companies (disclosure of information
about benefits of directors) regulation (cap. 622g) (Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

The remuneration of the chief executive and the directors for the years ended December
31, 2020, 2021 and 2022 and the five months ended May 31, 2022 and 2023 are as follows:
(Continued)

Employer’s
Allowances  contribution
Discretionary  and benefit to pension
Fees Salaries bonuses in kind scheme Total

HK$'o00 HK$ooo HK$'o00 HK$'o00 HK$'o000 HK$'ooo

Five months

ended May 31,

2023
Mr. Lee Kun Tai,

Steven (Note 1) - 2,500 - - 8 2,508
Ms. Wong Cheuk

Sze (Noteii) - 405 8 1 8 422
Mr. Lee Sheung

Shing (Note iii) - - - - - -
Ms. Lee Pik Tsong

(Note iii) - . - y . .
Ms. Chan Wing

Sze (Note iii) - - - - - -
Ms. Kan Pui Yan

(Note iii} - - - - - -

- 2,005 3 1 i6 2,930

Notes:

{1 Appointed as executive director since October 25, 2022.

(i) Appointed as executive director since March 20, 2023.

(iii) Appointed as non-executive director since March 20, 2023.

The remuneration shown above represents remuneration received by the chief executive
and the directors in their capacity as employee to the subsidiaries of the Company and no
directors waived any emolument during the years ended December 31, 2020, 2021, 2022

and the five months ended May 31, 2022 and 2023.

Prof. Hung Wai Man, Mr. Mak Wing Sum, Alvin and Mr. Leung Ka Cheung were
appointed as independent non-executive director on October 31, 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Benefits and interests of directors (disclosures required by section 383 of the Hong
Kong companies ordinance (cap. 622) and companies (disclosure of information
about benefits of directors) regulation (cap. 622g) (Continued)

(b)

(©)

(d)

Directors’ retirement benefits and termination benefits

None of our directors received any retirement benefits nor termination benefits during
the years ended December 31, 2020, 2021, 2022 and the five months ended May 31, 2022
and 2023.

Consideration provided to third parties for making available directors
services

During the years ended December 31, 2020, 2021, 2022 and the five months ended May
31, 2022 and 2023, the Group did not pay consideration to any third parties for making
available directors’ services.

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of
directors, controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities with such
directors

Save as disclosed in Note 26, there is no loans, quasi-loans and other dealing
arrangements in favour of directors, or controlled bodies corporate by and connected
entities with such directors during the years ended December 31, 2020, 2021, 2022 and
the five months ended May 31, 2022 and 2023.
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K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in' the Group for the years ended
December 31, 2020, 2021, 2022 and the five months ended May 31, 2022 and 2023 include four,
four, five, four and two directors, respectively. Details of the emoluments of the remaining highest
paid non-director individual during the years ended December 31, 2020, 2021, 2022 and the five
months ended May 31, 2022 and 2023 are set out as below:

Five months ended May
Year ended December 31, 31,
2020 2021 2022 2022 2023
HK$’oc00 HK$’000 HK$' 000 HX%$’000 HK$'coo
(Unaudited)
Salaries, wages, and
bonuses 1,087 1,565 - 430 1,528
Pension costs- defined
contribution plans 18 18 - 8 27
1,105 1,583 - 438 1,555

The emoluments of the highest paid individual fell within the following bands:

Five months ended May
Year ended December 31, 31,
2020 2021 2022 2022 2023
HK$’ 000 HK$'000 HK$%$'000 HK$’00c0 HK$'o00
{(Unaudited)
Emolument bands
HKS$o to HX$500,000 - - - 1 2
HK$500,00110
HK$1,000,000 - - - - 1
HK$1,000,001 10
HX$1,500,000 1 - - - -
HK$1,500,001t0
HK$2,000,000 - 1 - - -
1 1 - 1 3
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K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Interest expenses and other finance cost

Five months ended May
Year ended December 31, 31,
2020 2021 2022 2022 2023

HK$’co00 HK$'o00 HX$'000

HK$’000 HK$'oc0

{Unaudited)

Interest expenses
Interest expenses on

bank borrowings 19,132 18,459 19,638
Interest expenses on

bank overdraft 2 1 1
Banking facilities

handling fees 955 955 1,027
Interest expenses to the

immediate holding

company (Note 26(b)) 7,172 14,475 73
Interest expensesto a

fellow subsidiary (Note

26(b)) 7,094 - -
Interest expensesto a

related party (Note

26(b)) 2,237 2,087 2,224

8,299 8,739

73 -

900 919

36,592 35,977 22,963

9,272 9,662

Other finance cost
Interest expenses on
lease Habilities (Note

23(b)) 237 492 803

306 197
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K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Income tax expense

During the years ended December 31, 2020, 2021, 2022 and the five months ended May 31, 2022

and 2023, Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% in the Relevant Periods on
the estimated assessable profits:

Year ended December 31, Five months ended May 31,
2020 2021 2022 2022 2023
HK$'o00 HK$'oo0 HK$’c00 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Unaudited)
Current income tax 20,081 14,354 14,618 6,588 7,382
- Hong Kong profits tax {2,193) {16) (129) - -
- Over provision in prior
years (3,391) 884 (437) (32) (484)
Deferred income tax ‘
(Note 17} 14,497 15,222 14,052 6,556 6,898

The taxation on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from the theoretical amount that
would arise are summarised as follows:

Year ended December 31, Five months ended May 31,
2020 2021 2022 2022 2023
HK$'o00 HK$’co00 HK$’o00 HKS$’000 HKS$'000
(Unaudited)
Profit before income tax 105,529 02,304 81,017 39,020 20,773
Tax calculated at
domestic tax rates of
16.5% 17,412 15,230 13,516 6,438 4,913
Over provision in prior
years (2,193) (16) (129) - -
Income not subject to tax (746) - (292) (50) (109)
Expenses not deductible
for tax purposes 24 3 957 168 2,004
14,497 15,222 14,052 6,556 6,898
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K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to owners of the Company
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the years ended December 31,
2020, 2021, 2022 and the five months ended May 31, 2022 and 2023.

In determining the weighted average number of shares in issue during the years ended December
31, 2020, 2021, 2022 and the five months ended May 31, 2022 and 2023, 10,000 shares were
deemed to have been in issued on January 1, 2020 as if the Company has been incorporated by
then.

Five months ended May
Year ended December 31, 31,
2020 2021 2022 2022 2023
{Unaudited)

Profit attributable to

equity holders of the

Company (HK$’000) 01,032 77,082 67,865 32,464 22,875
Weighted average

number of shares in

issue 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000
Basic and diluted

earnings per share

(HK$’000) (Note) 9.1 7.7 6.8 3.2 2.3
Note:

The earnings per share presented above has not been taken into account of the proposed
capitalization issue whereby the ordinary shares in issue will increase from 10,000 shares to
375,000,000 shares upon listing of the Company. The proposed capitalization issue has not
become effective as at the date of this report.

Diluted earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2021, 2022 and the five

months ended May 31, 2022 and 2023 were the same as the basic earnings per share as there were
no potential dilutive ordinary shares outstanding during the years/periods.
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K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold Furniture Motor
improvements Equipment and fixtures vehicles Total
HK$'coo HK%’co0 HK$'o00 HK$'000 HK$'oo0
At January 1, 2020
(Unaudited)
Cost 6,198 8,770 11 3,375 18,454
Accumulated depreciation (3,729) (4,200) (o7 (3,375) (11,401)
Net book amount 2,469 4,570 14 - 7,053
Year ended December 31,
2020
Opening net book amount 2,469 4,570 14 7,053
Additions 668 1,189 - - 1,857
Depreciation (Note 6) (966) (1,609) (6) - (2,581)
Disposal (Note 5(b)) - (16) - - (16)
Closing net book amount 2,171 4,134 8 - 6,313
At December 31, 2020
Cost 6,570 9,505 g0 3,375 19,540
Accumulated depreciation (4,399) (5.371) (82) (3,375) (13,227)
Net book amount 2,171 4,134 8 - 6,313
At January 1, 2021
Cost 6,570 9,505 90 3.375 19,540
Accumulated depreciation (4,399) (5.371) (82) (3.375) (13,227)
Net book amount 2,171 4,134 8 - 6,313
Year ended December 31,
2021
Opening net book amount 2,171 4,134 8 - 6,313
Additions 547 452 - - 999
Depreciation (Note 6) (998) (1,602) (6) - {2,606)
Disposal (Note 5(b)) - (24) - - (24}
Closing net book amount 1,720 2,960 2 - 4,682
At December 31, 2021
Cost 6,639 9,173 76 3,375 19,263
Accumulated depreciation (4,919) (6,213) (740 (8,375) (14,581)
Net book amount 1,720 2,660 2 - 4,682
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K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Leasehold Furniture Motor
improvements Equipment and fixtures vehicles Total
HK%’oo0 HK$'o00 HK$'000 HK$'ooo HK$'o00
At January 1, 2022
Cost 6,639 9,173 76 3,375 19,263
Accumulated depreciation (4,919) (6,213) (74) (3,375) (14,581)
Net book amount 1,720 2,960 2 - 4,682
Year ended December 31,
2022
Opening net book amount 1,720 2,060 2 - 4,682
Additions 64 1,415 - - 1,479
Depreciation (Note 6) (760) (1,547) (2) - (2,309}
Disposal (Note 5(b})} (211) (104) - - (315)
Closing net book amount 812 2,724 - - 3,537
At December 31, 2022
Cost 4,630 9,582 68 3,375 17,655
Accumulated depreciation (2,817) (6,858) (68) (3,375) (14,118)
Net book amount - 813 2,724 - - 2,537
At January 1, 2023
Cost 4,630 9,582 68 3,375 17,655
Accumulated depreciation (3,817 (6,858) 68) (3,375) (14,118}
Net book amount 813 2,724 - - 3,537
Five months ended May
31, 2023

Opening net book amount 813 2,724 - - 2,537
Additions 655 457 - - 1,112
Depreciation (Note 6) (172) (483) - - (655)
Disposal {Note 5(b)) (360) - - - (360)
Closing net book amount 936 2,698 - - 3,634
At May 31, 2023
Cost 4,918 9,697 68 3,375 18,058
Accumulated depreciation (3,982) (6,999) {68) (3,375} (14,424)
Net hook amount 936 2,698 - - 3,634
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K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Loan receivables (Continued)

The ageing analysis of loan receivables by due date is as follows:

As at December 31, As at May 31,
2020 2021 2022 2023
HK$’ 000 HK$’o00 HK$’000 HK$'000
Unsecured property
owner loans
Not overdue 468,424 375,422 348,899 367,703
1-30 days past due 56,458 56,140 79,065 61,201
31-60 days past due 14,739 12,871 17,908 13,236
61-90 days past due 10,287 7,978 9,815 6,039
Qver go days past due 163,449 182,507 274,273 288,745
713,357 634,918 729,960 737,824
Unsecured personal loans
Not overdue 250,000 212,827 182,186 206,146
1-30 days past due 18,815 15,070 © 10,878 13,744
31-60 days past due 7,901 2,054 2,649 3,177
61-90 days past due 2,636 1,575 5,330 1,407
Over 9o days past due 40,803 28,154 33,510 37,017
320,155 259,680 234,553 261,491
SME loans .
Not overdue . 52,808 36,460 38,519 43,628
1-30 days past due 4,322 4,425 5,681 7,008
31-60 days past due : 245 584 639 53
61-90 days past due 498 654 406 -
Over g0 days past due 795 7,460 9,058 6,181
58,668 49,592 54,303 56,960

As at December 31, 2020, 2021, 2022 and May 31, 2023, provision for impairment of loan
receivables amounted to HK$108,608,000, HK$101,666,000, HK$105,001,000 and
HKX$108,116,000 respectively.

Borrowers are required to repay the outstanding loan receivable balances by monthly installments
over the term of the corresponding loan receivables.
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K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Loan receivables {(Continued)

The aging analysis of loan receivables based on instalments by due date is as follows:

As at December 31, As at May 31,
2020 2021 2022 2023
HK$’o00 HK$'000 HK$%$'000 HK$'000
Unsecured property
owner loans
Current 625,804 528,811 568,368 566,003
Overdue 1-30 days 6,471 6,009 9,001 8,191
Overdue 31-60 days 3,999 3,972 5:744 5,732
Overdue 61-90 days 2,563 3,620 5,209 . 5,540
Overdue over 90 days 73,520 92,416 141,458 152,268
713,357 634,918 729,960 737,824
Unsecured personal loans
Current 300,171 249,515 212,120 234,061
Overdue 1-30 days 3,330 2,428 3,000 6,084
Overdue 31-60 days 2,205 1,468 2,191 2,099
Overdue 61-go days 2,022 1,205 1,563 1,803
Overdue over 9o days 12,427 11,974 15,270 17,354
320,155 259,680 234,553 261,491
SME loans
Current 57,912 45,461 48,675 52,774
Overdue 1-30 days 576 668 1,703 055
Overdue 31-60 days 70 547 782 443
Overdue 61-90 days 65 454 811 443
Overdue over 90 days 45 2,462 2,332 2,345
58,668 49,592 54,303 56,960

The carrying amount of the Group’s loan receivables is denominated in HK$ and approximates to
its fair value, Further analyses on credit risk management of the Group’s loan receivables are set
out in Note 3.1(b).
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K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables

Group Company
Asat
Asat Asat December Asat
January 1, As at December 31, May 31, 31, May 31,
2020 2020 2021 2022 2023 2022 2023
HEK$’coo0 HXS$'ooo HEK$'ocoo HK$'ooo HKS$ooo HK$'coo HK$'ooo
(Unaudited)
Prepayments for
advertising - - 126 1,106 506 - -
Prepaid listing
expenses - - - 3,803 5,605 3,803 5,605
Other
prepayments 216 455 957 748 1,751 - -
Deposits 1,412 1,651 3,861 5,938 4,252 - -
Other
receivables 1,619 738 661 537 229 - -
3,247 2,844 5605 12,132 12,343 3,803 5,605

The listing expenses are incurred in connection with the listing of the Company and will be
deducted from equity upon listing of the Company.

All deposits and other receivables are neither past due nor impaired.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s prepayments, deposits and other receivables are

denominated in HK$.
Cash and cash equivalents

As at
January 1,

2020
HK$'o00
{Unaudited)

Cash at bank
and on hand 20,798

As at December 31, As at May 31,

2020 2021 2022 2023
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'oo0
29,186 28,945 24,131 34,456

Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in HK$.
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K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability method using
the tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at the end of each reporting period.

As at As at May
January 1, As at December 31, 31,

2020 2020 2021 2022 2023

HK$ 000 HX$'oo00 HK$'coo HK$'000 HK$'000
(Unaudited)

Deferred income
tax assets:

- Deferred

income tax

assets to be

recovered

within 12

months 14,593 17,980 16,816 17,489 17,007
- Deferred

income tax

assets to be

recovered

after 12

meonths 59 85 202 134 135

Deferred income -
tax liabilities:

- Deferred
income tax
liabilities to
be settled
within 12
months (216) (238) (75) (243) (178)

Deferred income
tax assets, net 14,436 17,827 16,943 17,380 17,864
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K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Deferred income tax (Continued)

The movements in the deferred income tax assets account are as follows:

At January 1, 2020 (Unaudited)
Credited to profit or loss (Note 10)

At December 31, 2020

At January 1, 2021
Charged to profit or loss (Note 10)

At December 31, 2021

At January 1, 2022
Credited to profit or loss (Note 10)

At December 31, 2022
At January 1, 2023

Credited te profit or loss (Note 10)

At May 31, 2023

The movements in the deferred income tax assets account are as follows:

Lease

HK%oo0
At January 1, 2020 (Unaudited) 45
Credited to profit or loss 15
At December 31, 2020 60
At January 1, 2021 60
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss 14
At December 31, 2021 74
At January 1, 2022 74
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss (48)
At December 31, 2022 26
At January 1, 2023 26
Credited to profit or loss 42
At May 31, 2023 68
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HX$'co0

14,436

3,391

17,827

17,827
(884)

16,943

16,943

437

17,380

17,380

484

17,864

Provisions Total
HK$'000 HK$’o00
14,607 14,652
3,313 3,328
17,920 17,980
17,020 17,080
(1,145) {1,131)
16,775 16,849
16,775 16,849
621 573
17,396 17,422
17,396 17,422
443 485
17,839 17,907
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K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Deferred income tax (Continued)

The net movements of the Group’s deferred income tax liabilities are as follows:

Accelerated tax

depreciation
HK$’000
At January 1, 2020 (Unaudited) 216
Credited to profit or loss (63)
At December 31, 2020 153
At January 1, 2021 153
Charged to profit or loss (247)
At December 31, 2021 (94)
At January 1, 2022 (94)
Credited to profit or loss 136
At December 31, 2022 42
At January 1, 2023 42
Credited to profit or loss 1
At May 31, 2023 43

Repossessed assets

The Group obtained contro] on repossessed assets by taking possession of collaterals as security.
The carrying amounts of these assets as at December 31, 2020, 2021, 2022 and May 31, 2023 are
set out below:

As at January 1, As at December 31, As at May 31,
2020 2020 2021 2022 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'oo0 HK%$'000 HK$’ 000
{(Unaudited)
Repossessed
assets 5,074 4,547 6,809 5,951 9,566
Less: Provision for
impairmen
tof
repossesse :
d assets (209) (364) (183) (156} (123)
Repossessed

assets, net 4,865 4,183 6,626 5,795 9,443
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K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Repossessed assets (Continued)

The estimated market value of the repossessed assets held by the Group as at December 31, 2020,
0021, 2022 and May 31, 2023 were approximately HK$12,150,000, HK$17,023,000,
HK$9,991,000 and HK$20,309,000 respectively. They represent properties in respect of which
the Group has acquired access or control (e.g. through court proceedings or voluntary actions by
the properties concerned) for release in full or in part of the obligations of borrowers.

Movements of the Group’s provision for itnpairment of repossessed assets are as follows:

As at December 31, As at May 31,
2020 2021 2022 2023
HK$’o00 HK$'o00 HK$'000 HK$'o00
At the beginning of the
year/period 209 364 183 156
Provision for/(reversal of)
impairment of repossessed
assels 241 {181) (27) (233)
Repossessed assets written-
off (86) - - -
At the end of the vear/period 364 183 156 123
Share capital
The Group and the Company
Number of Nominal value
ordinary of ordinary
Note shares share
HK$
Authorised:
As at October 25, 2022 (date of incorporation),
December 31, 2022 and May 31, 2023 (Note
1.2) (a) 2,900,000,000 390,000
Issued and paid:
Issuance of ordinary shares upon incorporation,
December 31, 2022 and May 31, 2023 (Note
1.2) (b) 10,000 1
{(a) The Company was incorporated on October 25, 2022 as an exempted company with
limited liability under the laws of the Cayman Islands with an authorized share capital of
HK$390,000 divided into 3,900,000,000 shares of a nominal value of HK$0.0001 each.
(b) On October 25, 2022, 10,000 ordinary shares were issued for approximately HK$0.0001

per share pursuant to the Group’s Reorganization set out in Note 1.2.
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K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Reserves movement of the Company

Contribution Accumulated

surplus losses Total
HX$'o00 HK$000 HK$’000
Balance at October 25, 2022 - - -
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the
period - (5,315) (5,315)
Balance at December 31, 2022 - (5,315) (5,315)
Balance at January 1, 2023 - {5,315) (5,315)
Loss and total comprehnsive loss for the
period - (12,782) {12,782)
Transaction with owners
Contribution surplus (Note) 645,640 - 645,640
Balance at May 31, 2023 645,640 (18,097) 627,543

Note: The contribution surplus of the Company represents the excess of the aggregated net asset
values of the combining subsidiaries over the consideration pursuant to the
Reorganization as described in Note 1.2.

Accruals and other payables

As at January 1, As at December 31, As at May 31,
2020 2020 2021 2022 2023
HK$'000 HK$’000 HKS$’o00 HK$’co0 HX$’oco
{(Unaudited)
Accrued listing
expenses - - - 2,607 2,406
Accrued salaries
and staff
benefits - 19 159 803 3,828
Other aceruals 645 496 319 378 453
Provision for
reinstatement
cost for leases 41 87 690 881 844
Others 1,063 1,120 606 812 331
1,749 - 1,722 1,774 5,481 7,862

The Group's accruals and other payables are denominated in HK$.
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K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bank borrowings
As at January 1, As at December 31, As at May 31,
2020 2020 2021 2022 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’o00 HX$'000 HK$'o000
(Unaudited)
Bank loans 240,564 329,248 328,103 303,095 265,392

For the years ended December 31, 2020, 2021, 2022 and the five months ended May 31, 2023, the
interest rates of the bank borrowings ranged from 3.88% to 6.25%, 3.88% to 6.25%, 3.88% t0 6.25%
and 4.58% to 8.76% per annum respectively, Maturity analysis of bank borrowings with a
repayment on demand clause based on agreed scheduled repayments is set out in Note 3.1(c).

The amounts based on the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements and the
maturities of the Group’s total borrowings at the respective dates of the financial position (i.e.
ignoring the effect of any repayment on demand clause) are shown below:

As at January 1, As at December 31, As at May 31,
2020 2020 2021 2022 2023
HK$'o00 HK$'000 HK$'o000 HK$'o00 HK$000
(Unaudited)
Amounts of
borrowings that
are repayable:
- Within 1 year 240,564 328,799 317,061 298,287 262,770
- Between 1 and 2
years - 449 11,042 4,808 2,622
240,564 329,248 328,103 303,095 265,392

Bank facilities and pledge of assets

As at December 31, 2020, 2021, 2022 and May 31, 2023, the Group had aggregate banking
facilities of approximately HK$345,248,000, HK$359,103,000, HK$343,095,000 and
HK$335,392,000 respectively for bank overdrafts and bank loans. There were undrawn facilities
of approximately HK$16,000,000, HK$31,000,000, HK$40,000,000 and HK$70,000,000 as at
December 31, 2020, 2021, 2022 and May 31, 2023 respectively.

The bank loans and bank overdrafts were secured by the following:

(a) Unlimited joint guarantees provided by the Controlling Shareholders and certain related
parties of the Group;

b A floating charge against all assets duly executed by K Cash Express; and
(e A property held by a related party.

The Group has complied with the relevant financial covenants of its banking facilities during the
years ended December 31, 2020, 2021, 2022 and the five months ended May 31, 2023.
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K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bank borrowings (Continued)
Bank facilities and pledge of assets

As at December 31, 2020, 2021, 2022 and May 31, 2023, all bank borrowings are denominated in
HK$ and their carrying amounts approximate their respective fair values.

The joint guarantees provided by the Controlling Shareholders and certain related parties of the
Group will be released upon listing of the Company.

Lease
(a) Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets

The consolidated balance sheets show the following amounts relating to leases:

Asat
January 1, As at December 31, Ag at May 31,
2020 2020 2021 2022 2023
HK$'oo0 HK$oco HK$'ocoo HK$'ooo HK$'oo00
{Unaudited)
Right-of-use
assets
Properties 4,328 3,349 19,578 18,083 14,201
Office
equipment 212 793 588 878 708
Motor vehicles 367 - - - -
4,907 4,142 20,166 18,961 14,999
Lease
labilities 3,351 4,463 20,620 19,122 14,064

During the years ended December 31, 2020, 2021, 2022 and the five months ended May
31, 2023, there were additions to right-of-use assets of approximately HK$3,555,000,
HK$22,445,000, HK$5,660,000 and HK$10,860,000 respectively.

The Group’s lease liabilities are denominated in HK$.
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K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Lease (Continued)

(b) Amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive
income

The consolidated statements of comprehensive income show the following amounts
relating to leases:

Year ended December 31, Five months ended May 31,
2020 2021 2022 2022 2023
HK$'o00 HK$'oo0 HK$'o000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(Unaudited)
Depreciation of
right-of-use
assets:
Properties 4,104 8,007 12,130 4,853 3,142
Office equipment 216 204 185 72 8o
4,320 8,301 12,315 4,925 3,222
Expenses related
to short-term
lease (included
in general and
administrative
expenses) (Note
6) 5,303 4,263 2,021 1,144 2,088
Interest expenses
on lease
liabilities (Note
9) 237 492 803 306 197
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K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Lease (Continued)

()

(d)

(e)

Amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of cash flows

During the years ended December 31, 2020, 2021, 2022 and the five months ended May
31, 2022 and 2023, the total cash outflows for leases were analysed as below:

Year ended December 31, Five months ended May 31,
2020 2021 2022 2022 2023
HK$’000 HK$'o0o00 HK$'oo0 HK$’ oo0 HK$’o00
(Unaudited)

Cash flows from

operating

activities
Payments for

short-term

leases* (5,303} (4,263) (2,921) (1,144) (2,088)
Cash flows from

financing

activities
Payment of

principal

elements of lease

liabilities (Note

25(b)) (4,270) (8,168) (12,447) (4,690) (3,675)
Payment of

interest of lease

liabilities (Note

25(b)) (237} (492} (803} (306} (197}

# Payments for short-term leases were not shown separately, but included in the
line of “Profit before income tax” in respect of the net cash generated from
operations which were presented in Note 25(a) using the indirect method.

The Group’s leasing activities and how these are accounted for

The Group leases various offices premises and equipment. Rental contracts are typically
made for fixed periods of 2 to 4 years, but may have extension options as described in (e)
below.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different
terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the
security interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be
used as security for borrowing purposes.

Extension and termination options
Extension and termination options are included in certain leases of the Group on shop
premises. These are used to maximize operational flexibility in terms of managing the

assets used in the Group’s operations. The majority of extension and termination options
held are exercisable only by the Group and not by the respective lessor.
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K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Dividends
Five months ended May
Year ended December 31, 31,
2020 2021 2022 2022 2023
HK$’o00 HKS$’000 HK$'o00 HK$’o00 HK$’000
(Unaudited)

Dividends 121,000 17,800 - - 100,000

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company since its incorporation.

Dividends during the years ended December 31, 2020, 2021, 2022 and the five months ended May
31, 2022 and 2023 represented dividends declared by the companies now comprising the Group
to the owners of the companies for each of the years ended December 31, 2020, 2021 and 2022
and the five months ended May 31, 2022 and 2023, after elimination of intra-group dividends.
The rates for dividends and the number of shares ranking for dividends are not presented as such
information is not considered meaningful for the purpose of this report. The interim dividends
were non-cash transactions settled through current account with related parties.
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K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
25 Note to the consolidated statements of cash flows
(a) Reconciliation of profit before income tax to cash generated from operations

Year ended December 31, Five months ended May 31,

2020 2021 2022 2022 2023
HK$'000 HK$’ 000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK% 000
(Unaudited)}

Profit before
income tax 105,529 92,304 81,917 39,020 29,773
Adjustments for;

Depreciation of

property, plant

and equipment

(Note 6) 2,581 2,606 2,300 978 655
Depreciation of

right-of-use

asset (Note 6) 4,320 8,301 12,315 4,925 3,222
Loss on disposal

of property,

plant and

equipment

(Note 5(b)) 16 24 219 8 -
Gain on

termination of

lease (Note

5(b)) - - (18) - (660)
Interest income

(Note 5(b)) (20) 6)) » - (13)
Provision

for/(reversal

of) impairment

of repossessed

assets (Note 18) 241 (181) (27) (107) (33)
Expected credit

losses, net

(Note 14) 69,718 41,920 37,672 17,729 21,258
Interest

expenses 36,829 36,469 23,766 9,578 9,859
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K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
25 Note to the consolidated statements of cash flows (Continued)

(a) Reconciliation of profit before income tax to cash generated from operations

(Continued)
Year ended Decemnber 31, Five months ended May 31,
2020 2021 2022 2022 2023
HK$ 000 HK$'coo HK$'oo0 HK$'o00 HK$'coo
(Unaudited)
Operating cash
flow before
changes in
working capital 219,214 181,442 158,146 72,131 64,061
Changes in
working capital:
Loan receivables 8,089 99,587 43,107 (3,445) (55,602)
Repossessed
assets 438 {2,262) 858 2,655 (3,615}
Prepayments,
deposits and
other
receivables (403) (2,761) (5,042) (1,331) 2,856
Accrual and
other payables (27} 52 3,707 4,154 2,381
Cash generated
from operations 227,311 276,058 200,776 74,164 10,081
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K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note to the consolidated statements of cash flows (Continued)

(b) The reconciliation of net debt arising from financing activities is as follows:

Amount  Amount Amounts

duetothe duetothe Amounts due to

ultimate immediate due to other

Lease Bank  holding  holding fellow related
liabilities borrowings company company ubsidiaries parties Total

(Note23) (Notezz) (Notez26) (Note26) (Notez6) (Note26)
HK$'o0o0 HK$'ooo HEK$'coo HK$'ooo HK$'coo HEK$'coo HK$'ooo

As at January 1, 2020
(Unaudited) 3,351 240,564 - - 165,481 63,778 473,174
Cash flows, net
- Payment of principal
elements of lease
liabilities (Note 23(c)) (4,270) - - - - - (4,270)
- Payment of interest
elements of lease
liabilities (Note 23(c)) (237} - - - -
- Proceeds from bank
borrowings
- Repayments of bank
borrowings
- Advances from the
immediate holding

(237)

581,155 - - - 581,155

(492,471) - - - (492.471)

company - -
- Repayment to fellow

subsidiaries - - - - (146,547) - (146,547)
- Repayment to other

related parties - - - - - (e8,121)  (28,121)
Other non-cash

250,759 - - 256,759

movements
- Dividends - - - - 18,243 - 18,243
- Additions of lease

liabilities 5,610 - - - - - 5,619
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K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note to the consolidated statements of cash flows (Continued)

(b)

The reconciliation of net debt arising from financing activities is as follows

(Continued):

As at December 31,
2020

As at January 1, 2021

Cash flows, net

- Payment of principal
elements of lease
liabilities (Note 23(c))

- Payment of interest
elements of lease
liabilities (Note 23(c))

- Proceeds from bank
borrowings

- Repayments of bank
borrowings

- Advances from the
ultimate holding
company

- Advances from the
immediate holding
company

- Repayment to fellow
subsidiaries

- Repayment to other
related parties

Other non-cash

movements

- Dividends

- Additions of lease
liabilities

As at December 31,
2021

Amount  Amount Amounts

due to the duetothe Amounts due to

ultimate immediate due to other

Lease Bank  holding  holding fellow related

liabilities borrowings company company subsidiaries parties Total

(Note 23) (Note22) (Note26) (Note:z26) (Note 26) (Note 26)

HK$'o0o0 HK$'coo HEK$'ovoo HK$'ooo HK$'ooo HK$’ooo HK$'ooo
4,463 329,248 - 250,759 37,177 35657 657,304
4,463 329,248 - 250,759 37177 35,657 657,304
(8,168) - - - - - (8,168)

(492) - - - - - (492)
- 428,055 - - - - 428,055
- [(429,200) - - - - (429,200)
- - 30 - - - 30
- - - 7,489 - - 7,489
- - - - {40,646) - (40,646)
- - - - - (2,365) (2,365)
- - - 4,700 13,100 - 17,800
24,817 - - - - - 24,817
20,620 328,103 30 262,048 9,631 13,292 654,624
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K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note to the consolidated statements of cash flows (Continued)

() The reconciliation of net debt arising from financing activities is as follows

(Continued):

As at January 1, 2022

Cash flows, net

- Payment of principal
elements of lease
liabilities (Note 23(c))

- Payment of interest
elements of lease
labilities (Note 23(c))

- Proceeds from bank
borrowings

- Repayments of bank
borrowings

- Advances from the
immediate holding
company

- Repayment to the
immediate holding
company

- Repayment to fellow
subsidiaries

- Repayment to other
related parties

Other non-cash

movements

- Additions of lease
ligbilities

- Termination of leases

- Assignment of
unsecured loans
portfolio to the Group
(Note 25(d})

- Intercompany balances
novated (Note 25(d))

As at December 31,
2022

Amount  Amount Amounts

due tothe duetothe Amounts due to

ultimate immediate due to other

Lease Bank  holding  holding fellow related

liabilities borrowings company company subsidiaries parties Total

(Note 23) (Note23) (Note26) (Notea6) {Note 26) (Note 26)

HK$'ooo HK$'ooo HK$'ooo HK$'ooo HK$'oco HK$'ooo HK$000
20,620 328,103 30 262,948 9,631 33,292 654,624
(12.447) - - - - - (12,447)

(803) - - - - - (803)
- 437,490 - - - - 437,490

- (462,498) - - - - (462,498)
- - 54 - - - 54

- - - (4,627) - - (4,627)

- - - - (13,389) - (13389

- - - - - (4,806) (4,806)
11,110 - - - - - 11,110
642 - - - - - 642
- - - - 150,134 - 150,134

- - - (247,821 (146,376) - (394,197)
19,122 303,095 84 10,500 - 28,486 361,287
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K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note to the consolidated statements of cash flows (Continued)

(b) The reconciliation of net debt arising from financing activities is as follows

(Continued):
Amount  Amount Amounts
duetothe duetothe Amounts dueto
ultimate immediate due to other
Lease Bank  holding  holding fellow related
liabilities borrowings company company subsidiaries parties Total
(Note23) (Note22) (Note26) (Note=26) (Note 26) (Note 26)
EK$'ooo HK$'ooo HK$'ooo HK$'oc00 HK$'ooo HK$ o000 HK$'oc00
As at January 1, 2023 19,122 303,095 84 10,500 - 28,486 361,287
Cash flows, net
- Payment of principat
elements of lease
liabilities (Note 23(c)) (3,675) - - - - - (3,675)
- Payment of interest
elements of lease
liabilities (Note 23(c)) {197) - - - - - (197)
- Proceeds from bank
borrowings - 80,000 - - - - 80,000
- Repayments of bank
borrowings - {u7703) - - - - (117,703)
- Advances from the
ultimate holding
company - - 13 - - - 13
- Advances from fellow
subsidiaries - - - - 63,147 - 63,147
- Repayment to other
related parties - - - - - (2,034} (2,034)
Other non-cash
movements
- Additions of lease
liabilities 10,860 - - - - - 10,860
- Termination of leases (12,046) - - - - - (12,046)
- Intercompany balances
novated (Note 25 (d)) - - - 5,367 - 5,367
As at May 31, 2023 14,064 265,392 97 10,500 68,514 26,452 385,019
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K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note to the consolidated statements of eash flows (Continued)

(c) Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment comprise:

Year ended December 31, Five months ended May 31,
2020 2021 2022 2022 2023
HK$’coo0 HK$'coo HK$'oo0 HK$'o00 HK$'000
~ (Unaudited)
Net book amount
(Note 12) 16 24 315 8 360
Loss on disposal
of property,
plant and
equipment
(Note 5(b)) (16) (24) (219) (8) -
Proceeds from
disposal of
property, plant
and equipment - - g6 - 360

(d) Significant non-cash transaction

During the year ended December 31, 2022, Maxcolm Finance Limited and Konew Capital
International Limited transferred its unsecured loan portfolios, totaling HK$150,134,000,
to the Group. Such transfers were settled through current accounts with Maxcolm Finance

Limited and Konew Capital International Limited.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, amount due to the immediate holding
company of HK$247,821,000 and amounts due to fellow subsidiaries of HK$146,376,000
was novated and set off against amounts due from fellow subsidiaries of HK$394,197,000.

During the five months ended May 31, 2023, amount due from a director of HK$558,000
was novated and set off against amount due from fellow subsidiaries.

During the five months ended May 31, 2023, amount due to a fellow subsidiary of
HK$5,367,000 was novated to current account with another fellow subsidiary.

-84-



K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Related party transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, control the
other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operation
decisions, Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to common control.
Members of key management of the Group and their close family members are also considered as
related parties. :

Major related parties that had transactions with the Group during the years ended December 31,
2020, 2021 and 2022 and the five months ended May 31, 2022 and 2023 are as follows:

Related parties

Mr, Lee Kun Tai, Steven

Mr. Lee Sheung Shing

Ms. Lee Pik Tsong

Ms, Kan Pui Yan

SW Lee Limited

AQ Communications Limited

Keyfull Industrial Limited
Fold Time Industries Limited
Big Development Asset Management Limited

Bridgeway Advisors Group Limited

Bridgeway Konew Fintech Lending Fund SP

Pawide Development Limited

Vgo Motor Limited

Moneysq Limited

Konew Capital International (Shenzhen)
Limited

Konew Capital International Limited Taiwan
Branch

Konew International Group Limited

Konew Capital Limited

Konew Investments Holding Limited

Trustme Chain Corporation Limited

smartMe Corporation Limited

Group Links International Limited

Modern Creative (HK) Limited

Relationship with the Group

A Controlling Shareholder

A Controlling Shareholder

A Controlling Shareholder

A direcior of the Company

Controlled by the Controlling Shareholders

Controlled by a family member of the
Controlling shareholders

Controlled by the Controlling Shareholders

Controlled by the Controlling Shareholders

Controlled by a family member of the
Controlling shareholders

Controlled by the Controlling Shareholders

Controlled by the Controlling Shareholders

Controlled by the Controlling Shareholders

Controlled by the Controlling Shareholders

Controlled by the Controlling Shareholders

Controlled by the Controlling Shareholders

Controlled by the Controlling Shareholders

Controlled by the Controlling Shareholders
Controlled by the Controlling Shareholders
Controlled by the Controlling Shareholders
Controlled by the Controlling Shareholders
Controlled by the Controlling Shareholders
Controlled by the Controlling Shareholders
Controlled by family members of a director of
the Company

The following transactions were carried out between the Group and its related parties during the
years ended December 31, 2020, 2021, 2022 and the five months ended May 31, 2022 and 2023.
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the related party transactions were carried out in
the ordinary course of business, at terms negotiated and mutually agreed between the Group and
the respective related parties.
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26

K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Related party transactions (Continued)

(a)

Ralances with fellow subsidiaries, other related parties, a director, the ultimate holding
company and the immediate holding company: (Continued)

As at December 31, 2020 and 2021, amount due to the immediate holding company bears
an effective interest rate of 5.69% and 5.50% per annum respectively. As at December 31,
2022 and May 31, 2023, amount due to the immediate holding company is non-interest
bearing, unsecured, repayable on demand and denominated in HK$.

As at December 31, 2020, 2021, 2022 and May 31, 2023, amount due to a related party of
HK$35,627,000, HK$32,931,000, HK$27,416,000 and HK$26,452,000 bears interest at
6.25%, 6.25%, 6.88% and 8.76% per annum respectively.

Except for the above, the other amounts due from/(to) the ultimate holding company, the
immediate holding company, fellow subsidiaries and other related parties are non-
interest bearing, unsecured, repayable on demand and denominated in HK$. Their
carrying amounts approximate to their fair values due to their short maturities.

The balances with fellow subsidiaries, other related parties, the ultimate holding company
and the immediate holding company will be settled upon listing of the Company. These
balances are non-trade in nature.

Asat As at
December 31, May 31,
The Company 2022 2023
HK$'oo0o HK$ 000
Amount due to a subsidiary

- K Cash Limited 6,511 21,206

Note: The Company’s amount due to a subsidiary is unsecured, interest free and
repayable on demand. Such balance is denominated in HK$.
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K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Related party transactions (Continued)

(b) Below is a summary of significant transactions between the Group and its related parties
during the years:
Year ended December 31, Five months ended May 31,
2020 2021 2022 2022 2023
HK$'coo HK$'oo0 HK$'oc0 HK$'000 HK$'oo0o
{Unaudited)

Rental income received
from fellow subsidiaries

(Note 5(b))
- Konew Capital International
Limited 896 3,708 8,094 3,393 102
- Honip Credit Limited 179 172 100 72 -
- Maxcolm Finance Limited - - 93 - 74

Rental income received
from a related party
(Note 5(b))
- Moneysq Limited 51 52 30 22 -
- smartMe Corporation
Limited - - - - 952

Expenses related to short
term leases paid to fellow
subsidiaries (Note 6)

- Hong Yip Well Being Limited (608) (726) (733) (303) (264)
- Hong Yip Success Limited (g06) {660) {(495) (275) -
- Hong Yip Money Flow

Limited (739) 647) (440) (275} -
- Konew Credit Corporation

Limited (2,141 (972) - - -
- Hong Yip Business Limited (377 - - - -

Referral fee paid to a
fellow subsidiary
- Konew Credit Corporation
Limited (39) - - - -

Service fee paidto a
related party
- Trustme Chain Corporation
Limited - (27) - - -

Expenses related to short

term leases paidto a

related party (Note 6)
- Fold Time Industries Limited (2,033) {1,686) (1,426) (703} -
- Moneysq Limited - - - - {(1,398)
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K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
26 Related party transactions (Continued)

(b) Below is a summary of significant transactions between the Group and its related parties
during the years: (Continued)

Year ended December 31, Five months ended May 31,
2020 2021 2022 2022 2023
HK$'o00 HK$’oco00 HK$'coo HK$'c00 HK$'oo0
(Unaudited)

Loan interest paid to the
immediate holding
company (Note 9)
- Konew Fintech Corporation
Limited (7,172) (14,475) (73) (73) -

Loan interest paid to a
fellow subsidiary (Note
9)
- Konew Credit Corporation
Limited (7,094) - - - -

Loan interest paidto a
related party (Note 9)
- Big Development Asset
Management Limited (2,237) (2,087) (2,224} (9c0) (919)

Advertising agency fee
paid to a related party
(Note 6)
- AQ Communications Limited (2,367) (3,744) (990) (474) (334)

Collection agency fee paid
to a related party (Note
6)
- Modern Creative (HK)
Limited (1,523) (738) {y89) (672) (22)

IT services fee paidto a
fellow subsidiary (Note
6)
- Konew Credit Corporation
Limited (1,510) (1,559) (780) (650) -

All the transactions with related parties were discussed and agreed based on terms
mutually agreed between the Group and the respective related parties.
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K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Related party transactions (Continued)

(c) The general banking facilities granted by the bankers are also secured by the unlimited
personal guarantee of the directors, investment properties and the unlimited corporation
guarantee of the related companies.

(d) Key management compensation

Key management includes directors of the Company. The compensation paid or repayable
to key management for employee services is disclosed in Note 7.

Contingent liabilities

As at December 31, 2020, 2021, 2022 and May 31, 2023, the Group did riot have any significant
contingent liabilities.

Subsequent events

There are no material subsequent events undertaken by the Company or any of the subsidiaries
now comprising the Group after May 31, 2023.
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